Two Cauchy Problems Associated to the Brinkman Flow

Michel Molina Del Sol Instituto Nacional de Matematica Pura y Aplicada IMPA

Advisor: Rafael José Iório Junior (IMPA) Co-Advisor: Eduardo Arbieto Alarcón (UFG)

Tese apresentada para obtenção de título de Doutor em Ciencias October-2010

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Contents

| | Abstract | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|--------------|---|----|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | Resumo | | \mathbf{v} | | | | | | |
| | | Acknowledgements | | vii | | | | | | |
| 1 | Intr | roduction. | 1 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.1 | The Brinkman Flow equation (BFE) | 1 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.2 | Some Preliminaries | 4 | | | | | | | |
| 2 | Local Theory | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.1 | Kato's Theory for Quasilinear Partial Differential Equations. | 7 | | | | | | | |
| | 2.2 | Existence and Uniqueness of the BFE | 9 | | | | | | | |
| | 2.3 | Continuous Dependence of the initial data | 13 | | | | | | | |
| 3 | Glo | bal Theory | 17 | | | | | | | |
| | 3.1 | Parabolic Regularization of the BFE | 17 | | | | | | | |
| | | 3.1.1 Existence and uniqueness of Regularized BFE | 17 | | | | | | | |
| | | 3.1.2 Existence and uniqueness of BFE | 27 | | | | | | | |
| | 3.2 | Comparison Principle for the BFE | 34 | | | | | | | |
| | 3.3 | Global estimates in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$ | 37 | | | | | | | |
| 4 | BFI | E with Bore-Like Initial Conditions | 43 | | | | | | | |
| | 4.1 | Local Theory with Parabolic Regularization | 43 | | | | | | | |
| | | 4.1.1 Auxiliar problem for the BFE | 43 | | | | | | | |
| | | 4.1.2 Parabolic Regularization for the auxiliary problem | 44 | | | | | | | |
| | 4.2 | L^2 -Global Estimate | 53 | | | | | | | |

| ii | CONTENTS |
|----|----------|
|----|----------|

| \mathbf{A} | A Appendix | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 59 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|---|---|----|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|----|
| | A.1 | Some inequalities | | | | | | | | | | • | • | • | | | | | | | | | | | | • | 59 |

Abstract

In this work we deal with two Cauchy problems associated to the Brinkman Flow, which models fluid viscosity in certain types of porous media. In the first of them, we study the local and global well-posedness in Sobolev Spaces $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$; using Kato's Theory for Quasilinear Equations and Parabolic Regularization.

Moreover, we study the same problem with Bore-Like initial conditions, and we establish local solutions in $H^s(\mathbb{R})$, $s > \frac{3}{2}$, and a L^2 -global estimate of that solution.

Key words: Brinkman Flow, Kato's Quasilinear Theory, Parabolic Regularization, Comparison Principle and Bore-Like initial condition.

Resumo

Neste trabalho trataremos dois problemas de Cauchy associados ao Fluxo de Brinkman, que modela o fluxo viscoso em certos tipo de meios porosos. No primeiro deles, estudamos a boa colocação, tanto local quanto global nos espaços de Sobolev usuais, com $s>\frac{n}{2}+1$, usando a Teoria de Kato para as equações Quasilineares e o Método de Regularização Parabólica.

Além disso, estudaremos o mesmo problema com condições iniciais tipo Bore-Like, estabelecemos soluções locais em $H^s(\mathbb{R})$, $s > \frac{3}{2}$ e estimativa global da solução obtida em $L^2(\mathbb{R})$.

Palavras Chave: Fluxo de Brinkman, Teoria Quasilinear de Kato, Regularização Parabólica, Principio de Comparação e condições iniciais tipo Bore-Like.

vi RESUMO

Acknowledgements

El temor de Jehová es el Principio de la Sabiduría, y el conocimiento del Santísimo es la inteligencia.

Proverbios 9:10

Todo lo puedo en Cristo que me fortalece. Filipenses 4:13

Y sabemos que a los que aman a Dios, todas las cosas le ayudan a bien, esto es, a los que conforme a su propósito son llamados. Romanos 8:28

- Mi primer agradecimiento es al Rey de Reyes, Señor de Señores, Dios Todo Poderoso, por su amor para conmigo, siempre estando de mi lado sin fallas; permitiéndome estar dándole finalidad a esta etapa de Doctorado.
- A mi esposa Cristina, mis padres Deyse y Luis, y toda la familia por su amor y apoyo incondicional hacia mi.
- A mis hermanos en Cristo, por sus constantes oraciones al Señor, a favor de mis proyectos de estudio.
- A mi Orientador Rafael José Iorio Junior, por sus valiosas enseñanzas, paciencia, y mostrarme la belleza y sentido de un analista.
- A mis Coorientadores Eduardo Arbieto Alarcón y Jorge Passamani Zubelli, por su apoyo y dedicación, dándome los medios necesarios para el desarrollo de esta tesis.
- A la Familia Valeria-Iorio por haberme acogido como un hijo en su hogar.

- A mi Orientadora en Cuba, Lucía Arguelles Cortés, cuyas enseñanzas permitieron mi aceptación en el IMPA.
- A mis compañeros de trabajo en la Universidad de Cienfuegos, Cuba, por su exhortación.
- Al IMPA por haberme dado el privilegio de estudiar en su recinto.
- Al CNPq-TWAS por su apoyo financiero.

Chapter 1

Introduction.

1.1 The Brinkman Flow equation (BFE)

In most problems of slow incompressible fluid flow in porous media, it is assumed that the macroscopic velocity and pressure are related by Darcy's law:

$$\nabla P(\rho) = -\left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\vec{\mathbf{v}} \tag{1.1}$$

where μ, k and ρ are respectively, the fluid's viscosity, the porous medium's permeability and the fluid's density.

The Brinkman Flow equation involves modifying the usual Darcy's law by the addition of a standard viscosity term whose coefficient is usually identified with the pure fluid viscosity ([38]). Specifically, Brinkman modified (1.1) to the form

$$\nabla P(\rho) = -\left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\vec{\mathbf{v}} + \mu_{eff}\Delta\vec{\mathbf{v}}$$
 (1.2)

Combining the continuity equation or conservation equation of the flow, i.e.,

$$\phi \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \, \vec{\mathbf{v}} \right) = 0 \tag{1.3}$$

and the Brinkman's law (1.2), we obtain the Brinkman Flow equation

$$\phi \partial_t \rho = \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \left(\frac{\mu}{k} - \mu_{eff} \Delta \right)^{-1} \nabla P \left(\rho \right) \right)$$
 (1.4)

where ϕ is the porosity of the medium.

In this work we are interested in the properties of the real valued solutions to the Cauchy Problem associated to the Brinkman Flow ([13],[42]). Namely,

$$\begin{cases}
\phi \partial_{t} \rho = \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \left(\frac{\mu}{k} - \mu_{eff} \Delta \right)^{-1} \nabla P \left(\rho \right) \right) + F(t, \rho), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \ t \in (0, T_{0}] \\
\rho(0) = \rho_{0}
\end{cases}$$
(1.5)

This models fluid flows in certain types of porous media. Here μ , k, and μ_{eff} denote the fluid viscosity, the porous media permeability and the pure fluid viscosity, respectively, while ρ is the fluid's density, v its velocity, P is the pressure, F is an external mass flow rate, and ϕ is the porosity of the medium.

In what follows, to simplify the notation, we will choose all the coefficients in (1.5) to be equal to 1. At the moment we want to consider only the mathematical structure of the system. At a later stage, the constants should be put back in, and various limiting cases should be studied. Thus our problem becomes:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\rho = \operatorname{div}\left(\rho\left(1-\Delta\right)^{-1}\nabla P\left(\rho\right)\right) + F\left(t,\rho\right), \ t \in (0,T_{0}] \\ \rho\left(0\right) = \rho_{0}. \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

Then we solve (1.6), and compute $\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ using the simplified Brinkman's condition $\vec{\mathbf{v}} = -(1-\Delta)^{-1} \nabla P(\rho)$. Of course, the following compatibility condition must be satisfied:

$$\vec{\mathbf{v}}_0 = -\left(1 - \Delta\right)^{-1} \nabla P\left(\rho_0\right). \tag{1.7}$$

This work is organized as follows:

In Chapter 2, we analyze the local well-posedness of (1.6) with Kato's Quasilinear Theory ([18], [20], [26], [28]). We will prove that (1.6) is locally wellposed in the sense described if $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$.

In ([2]) the authors proved that the problem is well-posed in the one dimensional case. As immediately consequence of Kato's Method they obtained continuous dependence of the solution with respect to the initial conditions.

Chapter 3, is dedicated to the study of the same problem in the context of parabolic regularization in order to obtain global well-posedness. We will prove global estimates (in the cases of case $F(t, \rho) = 0, P(\rho) = \rho^{2k}, k = 1, 2, ...$) using the Comparison Principle mentioned in Section 3.2.

Parabolic Regularization is also applied in the study of other equations such as The Benjamin-Ono and the Korteweg-de Vries ([16]),[17]). This leads to local and global results. The global estimates are obtained with the help of the conserved quantities associated to these equations (note that these equations are Hamiltonian Systems ([22],[39]).

In ([2]), such global results for the Brinkman Equation are obtained without using additional information of the equation, because for n = 1, $(1 - \Delta)^{-1}$ has a bounded Kernel. In our case we need to use a Comparison Principle for the solutions to obtain the global estimates in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, n > 1.

Since the Brinkman equation is not invariant under translations, we obtain continuity of the solution from the right. However, combining this method with Kato's Theory we are able to guarantee the continuity of the unique solution that we constructed.

Finally, in Chapter 4, we study the (BFE) with $F(t,\rho) = 0$, $P(\rho) = \rho^2$ with Bore-Like Initial conditions on the real line. We proved that (1.6) has a unique local(in time) solution in $C_+([0,\tilde{T}_s],H^s(\mathbb{R}))$, $s>\frac{3}{2}$. We also obtain a global L^2 -estimate for the solution.

The real reason for introducing Bore-Like initial conditions is that they model certain travelling waves that occur in nature. Such a wave is formed when a large river, like the Amazon, flows into the sea at times of exceptionally high tide. The wave moves upstream two or three times as fast as the normal tidal current, with a shape which corresponds roughly to the one described by the conditions that characterize the Bore-Like initial datum. The problem with bores is that they have a infinite mass, and Sobolev Spaces Methods, in principle, cannot be applied.

The Brinkman Equation can also be used, for example, to study the viscous fluid between two parallels plates packed with regular square arrays of cylinders ([40], [50]).

Other problems with this type of initial condition were studied in ([19], [21]). In this articles global results were determined with the help of the associated conserved quantities which allows one to obtain global estimates H^s (this typically makes use of the fact that the equation in question are Hamiltonian Systems).

We conclude this chapter with preliminaries and notations.

1.2 Some Preliminaries

The initial value problem associated to the Brinkman Flow equation (1.6), corresponds to general problems of the form:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = G(t, u) \in X \\ u(0) = u_0 \in Y \end{cases}$$
 (1.8)

Here X and Y are Banach spaces and $G:(0,T_0]\times Y\to X$ is continuous with respect to the relevant topologies. In practice one often takes X and Y to be Sobolev Spaces type L^2 .

We will say that (1.8) is *locally well-posed* or, that the solutions of (1.8) define a *dynamical system*, if the following conditions are satisfied:

• (LWP-I) Existence and Persistence: There exists T > 0 and a function $u \in C([0,T],Y)$ satisfying the differential equation in (1.8), with the time derivative computed with respect to the norm of X and such that $u(0) = u_0$, i.e.

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left\| \frac{u(t+h) - u(t)}{h} - G(t, u(t)) \right\|_{X} = 0 \tag{1.9}$$

- (LWP-II) *Uniqueness*: There is at most one solution to the problem at hand
- (LWP-III) Continuous dependence: The map $u_0 \to u(t)$ is continuous with respect to the appropriate topologies. More precisely, if $(u_0)_n \to u_0$ in Y, then for any $T' \in [0,T), u_n$, the solution corresponding to

 $(u_0)_n$, can be extended (if necessary) to [0, T'] for all n sufficiently large and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{[0,T']} ||u_n(t) - u(t)||_Y = 0$$
 (1.10)

In the case that T can be taken arbitrarily large, we will say that (1.8) is globally well-posed. If any of those conditions is not satisfied, then (1.8) is ill-posed. It deserves remark that any of the above conditions can fail, including persistence.

Finally, we will introduce some notations and definitions that we will be used throughout this work.

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, the Sobolev Space type L^2 , denoted as $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is determined as

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \{ f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : (1 + \xi^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \hat{f}(\xi) \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \}$$

where $S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ represents the set of temperate distributions, and \hat{f} is the Fourier Transform of f, defined as

$$\hat{f}(\xi) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)e^{-ix\xi} dx$$

The space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is a Hilbert Space with respect to the inner product

$$\langle f, g \rangle_s = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1 + \xi^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{g}(\xi)} d\xi$$

It is easy to see that if $s \geq r$ then $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow H^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ where the inclusion is continuous and dense. In particular, if $s \geq 0$ we are dealing with L^2 functions. As s increases things get better and better: if $k \geq 0$ is an integer, $f \in H^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $\partial^{\alpha} f \in L^2$ for all multi-indexes α such that $|\alpha| \leq k$.

According to the Sobolev's Lemma, if $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $s > \frac{n}{2}$, then $f \in C_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the set of all continuous functions that tend to zero at infinity, and f satisfies

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}} \le C_s(s,n)||f||_s \tag{1.11}$$

In this case $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a Banach Algebra with respect to the usual multiplication of functions. In particular,

$$||fg||_s \le C_s(s,n)||f||_s||g||_s$$
 (1.12)

where C(s, n) is a constant depending only s and n.

Other notations that we will be used are:

 \mathbb{R} - the real number

 $\| \bullet \|_X$ - the norm in a Banach Space X

B(X,Y) - the space of all bounded linear operators from X to Y

 $\| \bullet \|_{B(X,Y)}$ - the operator norm in B(X,Y)

 $\partial_x = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \ \partial_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$

D(A) - the domain of an operator A

R(A) - the range of an operator A

 $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ - the Schwartz space of rapidly decreasing C^{∞} functions

 $L^p = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 \le p \le \infty$

 $L_s^p = L_s^p(\mathbb{R}^n) = J^{-s}L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with norm $\| \bullet \|_{L_s^p} = \| \bullet \|_{s,p}$

C(I, X) - the space of continuous functions on an interval I into a Banach Space X. If I is compact, it is a Banach Spaces with a supremum norm.

 $C_{+}(I,X)$ - the space of functions on an interval I, such that there all continuous on the right side.

 $C^1_+(I,X)$ - the space of functions defined on an interval I, with derivative belonging to $C_+(I,X)$

 $C_w(I,X)$ - the space of all weakly continuous functions from I to X

 $A \lesssim B$ - there exist a constant c>0 such that $A \leq cB$

 \rightarrow - strong convergence

 \rightharpoonup - weak convergence

Chapter 2

Local Theory

This chapter will make use of Kato's Theory in order to obtain local existence results to problem in question.

2.1 Kato's Theory for Quasilinear Partial Differential Equations.

We consider the Cauchy Problem for the quasi-linear equation, that is:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = G(t, u) = -A(u)u + F(t, u) \in X, & t \in (0, T_0] \\ u(0) = u_0 \in Y \end{cases}$$
 (2.1)

Here A(u) is a linear operator depending of u, and u_0 is the initial value.

We will need the following assumptions.

- (K1) X is a reflexive Banach space. There is another reflexive space $Y \hookrightarrow X$ and there exists an isomorphism S from Y onto X such that $||S\varphi||_X = ||\varphi||_Y, \forall \phi \in Y$.
- **(K2)** The linear operator $A(u) \in G(X, 1, \beta)$ for $u \in W \subset Y$, where W is an open ball in Y and β is the real number. In other words, for each $u \in W$, -A(u) generates a C^0 semigroup such that

$$||e^{-sA(u)}||_{B(X)} \le e^{\beta s}, s \in [0, \infty), u \in W$$
 (2.2)

(K3) For each $u \in W$ we have

$$SA(u)S^{-1} = A(u) + B(u)$$
(2.3)

where $B(u) = [S, A(u)]S^{-1} \in B(X)$ is uniformly bounded ,that is, there is a constant μ_B such that

$$||B(u)||_{B(X)} \le \mu_B \tag{2.4}$$

(K4) $Y \subset D(A(u))$ (so that $A(u)|_Y \in B(Y,X)$ by the Closed Graph Theorem).

The maps $u \in W \mapsto A(u)$ is Lipschitz continuous in the sense:

$$||A(u) - A(v)||_{B(Y,X)} \le \mu_A ||u - v||_X \tag{2.5}$$

(K5) The function F satisfies:

- a) For each $u \in W$, the maps $t \in (0, T_0] \to F(t, u) \in X$ is continuous.
- **b)** For each $t \in (0, T_0]$, the maps $u \in W \to F(t, u) \in X$ is Lipschitz continuous in this topology, that is, there is a constant μ_F such that:

$$||F(t,u) - F(t,v)||_X \le \mu_F ||u - v||_X \tag{2.6}$$

Remarks about K2. In many cases A(u) is defined for all $u \in Y$, so that, W may be chosen as an arbitrary ball centered in zero.

It is well known that given a C^0 semigroup U(s), there are constants M > 0 and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and a unique closed operator A (satisfying the conditions of the Hille-Yosida-Philips Theorem, see [43, Vol.II]) such that U(s) is generated by -A, i.e. $U(s) = e^{-sA}$. Moreover $||U(s)||_{B(X)} \leq Me^{-s\beta}$. Conversely, given a closed operator A satisfying the conditions of the Hille-Yosida-Philips Theorem, there are $M > 0, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and a C^0 semigroup U(s) satisfying $||U(s)||_{B(X)} \leq Me^{-s\beta}$. The collection of all such A's will be denoted by $G(X, M, \beta)$.

If $A \in G(X,1,0)$, that is, if (-A) generates a contraction semigroup, we say that A is maximally accretive(or m-accretive). If $A \in G(X,1,\beta)$, that is, $||U(s)||_{B(X)} \leq Me^{-s\beta}$, A is said to be quasi maximally accretive(or quasi m-accretive).

Remark about K3, K4. The relation (2.3) should be satisfied in the strict sense, including the domain relation. Thus $x \in X$ is in D(A(u)) if and only

if
$$S^{-1}x \in D(A(u))$$
 with $A(u)S^{-1}x \in Y$

This strict equality is not as restrictive as it looks: in some sense $S^{-1}x$ is "better behaved" than an arbitrary element of D(A(u)). Consider KdV for example, and let $A(u) = \partial_x^3 + u\partial_x$, $Y = D(A(u)) = H^s(\mathbb{R})$, $s > \frac{3}{2}$, $X = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $S = (1 - \partial_x^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}$. Then if $\phi \in D(A(u))$, it follows that $S^{-1}\phi \in H^{2s}(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow H^s(\mathbb{R}) = D(A(u))$.

This results where extended to $G(X, M, \beta)$ in [31],[32] and [33]. The non-Reflexive Spaces case is treated in [35],[37] and [45].

Theorem 2.1.1. (Abstract Local Theory for Quasilinear Equations). Assume that K1 - K5 are satisfied. Then there exist $T \in (0, T_0]$ and a unique $u \in C([0, T]; Y)$ such that (2.1) is satisfied with the derivative taken with respect to the norm of X.

This theory is studied in [18],[20],[26],[27] and [35]

2.2 Existence and Uniqueness of the BFE

In this section we will apply Kato's Theory for the Brinkman Flow equation (BFE).

Theorem 2.2.1. (Existence and Uniqueness)

Let
$$\vec{\Theta}(\rho) = J^{-2}\nabla P(\rho), J = (1 - \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
. Define
$$A(\rho)f = -\operatorname{div}\left(fJ^{-2}\nabla P(\rho)\right) = -\operatorname{div}\left(f\vec{\Theta}(\rho)\right), \tag{2.7}$$

so that the PDE in (1.6) can be written as

$$\partial_t \rho + A(\rho)\rho = F(t, \rho). \tag{2.8}$$

Let $\rho_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$ and assume that P and F satisfy the following assumptions:

a) P maps $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into itself, P(0) = 0 and is Lipschitz in the following senses:

$$||P(\rho) - P(\widetilde{\rho})||_s \le L_s(||\rho||_s, ||\widetilde{\rho}||_s)||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||_s$$
(2.9)

$$||P(\rho) - P(\widetilde{\rho})|| \le \widetilde{L_s}(||\rho||_s, ||\widetilde{\rho}||_s)||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||$$
(2.10)

where $L_s, \widetilde{L_s}: [0, \infty) \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ are continuous and monotone non-decreasing with respect to each of its arguments

b) $F:(0,T_0]\times H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)\longrightarrow H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), F(t,0)=0$ and satisfies the following Lipschitz conditions:

$$||F(t,\rho) - F(t,\widetilde{\rho})||_s \le M_s(||\rho||_s, ||\widetilde{\rho}||_s)||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||_s$$
(2.11)

$$||F(t,\rho) - F(t,\widetilde{\rho})|| \le \widetilde{M}_s(||\rho||_s, ||\widetilde{\rho}||_s)||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||$$
(2.12)

where $M_s, \widetilde{M}_s : [0, \infty) \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ are continuous and monotone non-decreasing with respect to each of its arguments

c) For each $\rho \in W$, the map $t \in (0, T_0] \to F(t, \rho)$ is continuous respect to the topology of X.

Then there exists $T \in (0, T_0]$ and unique $\rho \in C([0, T], H^s)$ such that (1.6) is satisfied with the derivative taken with respect to the norm of H^{s-1} .

Proof. We will verify the assumptions according of abstract theory.

(K1) We take the basic spaces $X = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), Y = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and we prove that $S = (1 - \Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} = J^s$ is an isomorphism from Y to X. Let $f \in Y$, applying Parseval Identity we have:

$$||S(f)|| = ||J^{s}(f)|| = ||(1 + \xi^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \hat{f}(\xi)|| = ||f||_{s}$$
(2.13)

(K2) Since X is a Hilbert space, it is sufficient to prove that $A(\rho)$ is maximally accretive in X. (See [27],[41] and [43, Vol. II]).

$$\langle A(\rho)f, f \rangle \ge -\beta ||f||^2, \forall f \in D(A(\rho)) = Y; \rho \in W \subset Y$$
 (2.14)

Integrating by parts and Sobolev Lemma, implies

$$\langle A(\rho)f, f \rangle = \langle -\operatorname{div}(f \vec{\Theta}(\rho)), f \rangle = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int f \partial_{x_{i}}(f \Theta_{i}(\rho)) dx \qquad (2.15)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int f \partial_{x_{i}} f \Theta_{i}(\rho) dx = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int \partial_{x_{i}}(f^{2}) \Theta_{i}(\rho) dx$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int f^{2} \partial_{x_{i}} \Theta_{i}(\rho) dx = -\frac{1}{2} \int (\operatorname{div} \vec{\Theta}(\rho)) f^{2} dx$$

$$\geq -\underbrace{\frac{\|\operatorname{div} \vec{\Theta}(\rho)\|_{L^{\infty}}}{2}}_{\beta} \|f\|^{2}$$

$$Rg(A(\rho) + \lambda) = X = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), \forall \lambda > \beta$$

The fact that $A(\rho)$ is a closed operator combined with the inequality (2.14) shows that $(A(\rho) + \lambda)$ has closed range for all $\lambda > \beta$. Thus it suffices to show that $(A(\rho) + \lambda)$ has dense range for $\lambda > \beta$. For this, is sufficient to prove that $R(A(\rho) + \lambda)^{\perp} = \{0\}$, because $A(\rho)$ is a linear operator.

Let
$$g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$$
: $\langle (A(\rho) + \lambda)f, g \rangle = 0, \forall f \in D(A(\rho)) = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Integrating by parts, yields

$$\langle (A(\rho) + \lambda)f, g \rangle = 0 \Rightarrow \langle A(\rho)f, g \rangle + \langle \lambda f, g \rangle = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \langle f, \nabla g \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) \rangle + \langle \lambda f, g \rangle = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \langle f, \nabla g \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) + \lambda g \rangle = 0, \, \forall f \in D(A(\rho)) = H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$

$$\Rightarrow \nabla g \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) + \lambda g = 0$$

$$(2.16)$$

Therefore, multiplying by g, integrating by parts, and using (2.14) we have:

$$g\nabla g\,\vec{\Theta}(\rho) + \lambda g^2 = 0 \Rightarrow \frac{1}{2} \int \nabla(g^2)\,\vec{\Theta}(\rho)\,dx + \lambda \|g\|^2 = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \underbrace{-\frac{1}{2} \int g^2 \text{div}\,\vec{\Theta}(\rho)\,dx}_{=\langle A(\rho)g,g\rangle} + \lambda \|g\|^2 = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \langle A(\rho)g,g\rangle + \lambda \|g\|^2 = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow 0 \geq -\beta \|g\|^2 + \lambda \|g\|^2 = (\lambda - \beta) \|g\|^2$$

$$\Rightarrow g = 0$$

$$(2.17)$$

(K3) Let $W = \{ \rho \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|\rho\|_s \le R \}.$

$$B(\rho) = [S, A(\rho)]S^{-1} \in B(L^2) \Leftrightarrow [S, A(\rho)] \in B(H^s, L^2), ||[S, A(\rho)]||_{B(H^s, L^2)} \le \mu_B$$

Let $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$[S, A(\rho)]f = SA(\rho)f - A(\rho)Sf = -J^{s}\operatorname{div}(f\vec{\Theta}(\rho)) + \operatorname{div}((J^{s}f)\vec{\Theta}(\rho))$$

$$= -J^{s}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}}(f\Theta_{i}(\rho))\right] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}}((J^{s}f)\Theta_{i}(\rho))$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[J^{s}(\partial_{x_{i}}\Theta_{i}(\rho)f) - \partial_{x_{i}}\Theta_{i}(\rho)(J^{s}f)\right]$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[J^{s}(\Theta_{i}(\rho)\partial_{x_{i}}f) - \Theta_{i}(\rho)\partial_{x_{i}}(J^{s}f)\right]$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[J^{s}, \partial_{x_{i}}\Theta_{i}(\rho)\right]f - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[J^{s}, \Theta_{i}(\rho)\right]\partial_{x_{i}}f$$

$$(2.18)$$

Using Lemma A.1.1 in Appendix, $||J^{-2}\partial_{x_i}||_{B(H^s,H^{s+1})} \leq 1$ and (2.9)

$$||A|| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||[J^{s}, \partial_{x_{i}} \Theta_{i}(\rho)]f|| \leq c \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\nabla \partial_{x_{i}} \Theta_{i}(\rho)||_{s-1} ||f||_{s-1}$$

$$\leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\partial_{x_{i}} \Theta_{i}(\rho)||_{s} \leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\Theta_{i}(\rho)||_{s+1}$$

$$\leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}||_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+1})} ||P(\rho)||_{s} \leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} ||P(\rho) - P(0)||_{s}$$

$$\leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}||_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+1})} ||P(\rho)||_{s} \leq c \sqrt{n} \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} ||P(\rho) - P(0)||_{s}$$

$$\leq c \sqrt{n} \sqrt{n} L_{s} (||\rho||_{s}, 0) ||\rho||_{s} ||f||_{s} \leq \mu(R) ||f||_{s}$$

$$||B|| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||[J^{s}, \Theta_{i}(\rho)]\partial_{x_{i}}f|| \leq c \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\nabla \Theta_{i}(\rho)||_{s-1} ||\partial_{x_{i}}f||_{s-1}$$

$$\leq c \sqrt{n} ||f||_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\Theta_{i}(\rho)||_{s+1} \leq \dots \leq c \sqrt{n} L_{s}(||\rho||_{s}, 0) ||\rho||_{s} ||f||_{s}$$

$$\leq \mu(R) ||f||_{s}$$

$$(2.20)$$

Then

$$||[S, A(\rho)]f|| \le ||A|| + ||B|| \le 2\mu(R)||f|| \Rightarrow ||[S, A(\rho)]||_{B(H^s, L^2)} \le 2\mu(R) = \mu_B(R)$$

(K4)
$$D(A(\rho)) = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n); ||A(\rho) - A(\widetilde{\rho})||_{B(H^s, L^2)} \le \mu_A ||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||_{L^2}$$

Let $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

$$\begin{aligned} \|(A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho}))f\| &= \|\operatorname{div}(f\vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho})) - \operatorname{div}(f\vec{\Theta}(\rho))\| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\partial_{x_{i}}[f(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}))]\| \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|(\partial_{x_{i}}f)(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})) + f\partial_{x_{i}}(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}))\| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underbrace{\|(\partial_{x_{i}}f)(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}))\|}_{C} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underbrace{\|f\partial_{x_{i}}(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}))\|}_{D} \end{aligned}$$

Using Sobolev Lemma, $||J^{-2}\partial_{x_i}||_{B(L^2,H^1)} \leq 1$ and (2.10).

$$C \leq \|\partial_{x_{i}}f\|_{L^{\infty}}\|\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\widetilde{\rho})\|$$

$$\lesssim \|\partial_{x_{i}}f\|_{s-1}\|\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\widetilde{\rho})\|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|f\|_{s}\|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}\|_{B(L^{2};H^{1})}\|\|P(\rho) - P(\widetilde{\rho})\|$$

$$\lesssim \|f\|_{s}\widetilde{L_{s}}(\|\rho\|_{s},\|\widetilde{\rho}\|_{s})\|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\|$$

$$(2.22)$$

$$D \leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\partial_{x_{i}}(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\widetilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\lesssim \|f\|_{s} \|(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\widetilde{\rho}))\|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|f\|_{s} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}\|_{B(L^{2};H^{1})} \|\|P(\rho) - P(\widetilde{\rho})\|$$

$$\lesssim \|f\|_{s} \widetilde{L_{s}}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\widetilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\|$$

$$(2.23)$$

Then

$$\|(A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho}))f\| \lesssim 2\|f\|_s \widetilde{L}_s(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s)\|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|$$

$$\lesssim \mu_A(R)\|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|\|f\|_s$$

$$\Rightarrow \|A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho})\|_{B(H^s, L^2)} \leq \mu_A(R)\|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|$$
(2.24)

(**K5**) This assumptions is satisfied due to the conditions about F in Theorem 2.2.1 b).

2.3 Continuous Dependence of the initial data

To formulate the continuous dependence of the solution u on the data, we consider the sequence of value initial problems for $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^n + A^n(u^n)u^n = F^n(t, u^n) \in X, \ t \in (0, T_0] \\ u^n(0) = u_0^n \in Y \end{cases}$$
 (2.25)

Theorem 2.3.1. Assume that K1 - K5 hold for all equations in the sequence, with the same X, Y, S, W, and that the corresponding constants μ_B, μ_A, μ_F can be chosen independently of n.

Assume also that:

a) The maps $u \in W \to B(u) = [S, A(u)]S^{-1} \in B(X)$ is Lipschitz continuous in the sense:

$$||B(u) - B(v)||_{B(X)} \le \lambda_B ||u - v||_Y \tag{2.26}$$

b) The function $F:[0,T_0]\times W\to Y$ is bounded,i.e.,there exists a constant $\lambda_F\geq 0$ such that:

$$||F(t,u)||_Y \le \lambda_F \tag{2.27}$$

c) For each $t \in (0, T_0]$, the maps $u \in W \to F(t, u) \in Y$ is Lipschitz continuous in this topology, i.e., there is a constant λ_{FF} such that:

$$||F(t,u) - F(t,v)||_Y \le \lambda_{FF} ||u - v||_Y$$
 (2.28)

- **d)** $A^n(u) \to A(u)$ strongly in B(Y,X)
- e) $B^n(u) \to B(u)$ strongly in B(X)
- f) $F^n(t,u) \to F(t,u)$ strongly in Y.

If $u_0, u_0^n \in W$ and $u_0^n \to u_0$ in the topology of Y, then there is $0 < T'' \le T_0$, such that there are unique solutions $u^n \in C([0, T''], W) \cap C^1([0, T''], X)$ with $u^n(0) = u_0^n$ to (2.25) and a unique solution u in the same class. Moreover, we have: $u^n(t) \to u(t)$ in Y, uniformly in $t \in [0, T'']$.

See [18],[26] and [35].

Consider the following sequence of initial value problems for the BFE.

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho^n - \operatorname{div} \left[\rho^n (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \nabla P^n(\rho) \right] = F^n(t, \rho^n), & x \in \mathbb{R}^n, 0 < t \le T \\ \rho^n(0) = (\rho_0)^n \end{cases}$$
 (2.29)

Consider the same basic spaces $X=L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), Y=H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), W\subset Y, S=(1-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}}=J^s$

Theorem 2.3.2. (Continuous Dependence). In addition to the assumptions in Theorem 2.2.1, assume that:

The sequences P^n and F^n satisfies

a)
$$P^n(\rho) \xrightarrow{H^s} P(\rho), n \to \infty, \rho \in W$$

b)
$$F^n(t,\rho) \xrightarrow{H^s} F(t,\rho), n \to \infty, (t,\rho) \in (0,T_0] \times W$$

If $\rho_0, \rho_0^n \in W$ and $\rho_0^n \to \rho_0$ in the topology of Y, then there is $0 < T'' \le T_0$, such that there are unique solutions $\rho^n \in C([0, T'']; W) \cap C^1([0, T'']; H^{s-1})$ with $\rho^n(0) = \rho_0^n$ to (2.29) and a unique solution $\rho(t)$ in the same class. Moreover, we have: $\rho^n(t) \to \rho(t)$ in Y, uniformly in $t \in [0, T'']$.

Proof. We will verify the assumptions of abstract theorem. The assumptions about F, are satisfied immediately, by conditions imposed in Theorem 2.2.1(b) and this Theorem (2.3.2(b)).

a) $B(\rho)$ is Lipschitz continuous in the sense:

$$||B(\rho) - B(\widetilde{\rho})||_{B(L^2)} \le \lambda_B ||\rho - \widetilde{\rho}||_s \tag{2.30}$$

Firstly, we prove that: $||A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho})||_{B(H^s, L^2)} \le nL_s(||\rho||_s, ||\tilde{\rho}||_s)||\rho - \tilde{\rho}||_s$ Let $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

$$\begin{aligned} \|(A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho}))f\| &= \|\operatorname{div}(f.\vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho})) - \operatorname{div}(f.\vec{\Theta}(\rho))\| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\partial_{x_{i}}[f(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}))]\| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|f[\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})]\|_{1} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|f[\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})]\|_{s} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})\|_{s+1} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}\|_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+1})} \|P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})\|_{s} \\ &\leq n L_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \|f\|_{s} \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, we have

$$||A(\rho) - A(\tilde{\rho})||_{B(H^s, L^2)} \le n L_s(||\rho||_s, ||\tilde{\rho}||_s) ||\rho - \tilde{\rho}||_s$$
(2.32)

The result follows of the assumptions of $A(\rho)$ and the domain conditions described in Remark about K3, K4, in Section 2.1

d) Let $f \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$A^{n}(\rho)f = -\operatorname{div}\left[f.J^{-2}\nabla P^{n}(\rho)\right]$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}}[fJ^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}P^{n}(\rho)]$$

$$\xrightarrow{H^{s-1}} -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}}[fJ^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}P(\rho)]$$

$$= -\operatorname{div}\left[fJ^{-2}\nabla P(\rho)\right]$$

$$= A(\rho)f$$

$$\Longrightarrow A^{n}(\rho) \underset{B(H^{s},H^{s-1})}{\longrightarrow} A(\rho)$$
(2.33)

e) Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$B^{n}(\rho)f = [S, A^{n}(\rho)]S^{-1}f$$

$$\xrightarrow{L^{2}} \dots \longrightarrow [S, A(\rho)]S^{-1}f$$

$$= B(\rho)f$$

$$\Longrightarrow B^{n}(\rho) \underset{B(L^{2})}{\longrightarrow} B(\rho)$$

$$(2.34)$$

Therefore, continuous dependence follows.

Remark. Note that although we took $X = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, in the sections 2.2 and 2.3, the differential equation in (2.8) implies that $\partial_t \rho \in H^{s-1}$.

Chapter 3

Global Theory

This Chapter will make use of Parabolic Regularization technique and Comparison Principle, to obtain the H^s $(s > \frac{n}{2} + 1)$ global estimate for solutions of BFE.

3.1 Parabolic Regularization of the BFE

3.1.1 Existence and uniqueness of Regularized BFE

In this section we begin the analysis of the problem:

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t \rho_\mu = \mu \Delta \rho_\mu + \operatorname{div} \left[\rho_\mu J^{-2} \nabla P(\rho_\mu) \right] + F(t, \rho_\mu) \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^n), & t \in I = (0, T_0] \\
\rho_\mu(0) = \rho_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)
\end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $\mu > 0$ and the time derivative is computed in the norm of H^{s-2} . The nonlinearity $\tilde{F}(t,\rho) = \text{div} \left[\rho J^{-2} \nabla P(\rho)\right] + F(t,\rho)$ has the following properties:

Lemma 3.1.1. Let $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$ be fixed, P, F satisfy (2.9)-(2.12) as in Theorem 2.2.1. Then $\tilde{F}(t, \rho)$ is a continuous map from $I \times H^s$ to H^{s-1} and satisfies the estimates

$$\|\tilde{F}(t,\rho) - \tilde{F}(t,\tilde{\rho})\|_{s-1} \le \gamma(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_s$$
 (3.2)

$$\left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{F}(t, \rho) - \tilde{F}(t, \tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle \le L_0(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2$$
 (3.3)

for all $\rho, \tilde{\rho} \in H^s$, where $\gamma, L_0 : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ are continuous functions, monotone nondecreasing with respect to each of their arguments.

Proof.

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \tilde{F}(t,\rho) - \tilde{F}(t,\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s-1} \\ &= \left\| \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) \right) - \operatorname{div} \left(\tilde{\rho} \, \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho}) \right) + F(t,\rho) - F(t,\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s-1} \\ &\leq \left\| \operatorname{div} \left[\rho \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) - \tilde{\rho} \, \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\|_{s-1} + \left\| F(t,\rho) - F(t,\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s-1} \\ &\leq \underbrace{\left\| \operatorname{div} \left[\rho(\vec{\Theta}(\rho) - \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho})) \right] \right\|_{s-1}}_{=F1} + \underbrace{\left\| \operatorname{div} \left[(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\|_{s-1}}_{=F2} \\ &+ \left\| F(t,\rho) - F(t,\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s-1} \end{split}$$

$$(3.4)$$

Applying the fact that $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2}$ is a Banach Algebra, $||J^{-2}\partial_{x_i}||_{B(H^s,H^{s+1})} \le 1$, $\forall i$ and (2.9) we have:

$$F1 = \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})) \right] \right\|_{s-1} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \rho \left[\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \rho \right\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s} \lesssim \left\| \rho \right\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s+1}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \rho \right\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\|_{s} \lesssim n \|\rho\|_{s} L_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_{s}$$

$$(3.5)$$

$$F2 = \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_i} \left[(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \Theta_i(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\|_{s-1} \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \partial_{x_i} \left[(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \Theta_i(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\|_{s-1}$$
 (3.6)

$$\lesssim \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})\|_{s+1} \lesssim \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|P(\tilde{\rho})\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim nL_{s}(\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}, 0) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}$$
(3.7)

Finally, using (2.11), we have

$$\|\tilde{F}(t,\rho) - \tilde{F}(t,\tilde{\rho})\|_{s=1} \le \gamma(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s)\|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|_s$$
 (3.8)

with

$$\gamma(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) = n \Big[\|\rho\|_{s} L_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) + \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s} L_{s}(\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}, 0) \Big] + M_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s})$$
(3.9)

The continuity of \tilde{F} is a consequence of (3.8). As $I \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is complete,we prove that \tilde{F} is sequentially continuous. Let $t_n \to t$, $\rho_n \to \rho$ in $H^s \Rightarrow \exists \tau > 0, \ M > 0 : ||t_n|| \leq \tau ; ||\rho_n|| \leq N$ for large n. Then

$$\|\tilde{F}(t_n, \rho_n) - \tilde{F}(t, \rho)\|_{s-1} \le \gamma(\|\rho_n\|_s, \|\rho\|_s) \|\rho_n - \rho\|_s$$

$$\le C(N) \|\rho_n - \rho\|_s \longrightarrow 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty$$
(3.10)

where C(N) is a constant depending of N. On the other hand, estimating (3.3)

$$\left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{F}(t, \rho) - \tilde{F}(t, \tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle$$

$$= \underbrace{\left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \operatorname{div} \left[\rho \vec{\Theta}(\rho) - \tilde{\rho} \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\rangle}_{=C1} + \underbrace{\left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, F(t, \rho) - F(t, \tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle}_{=C2}$$
(3.11)

Integrating by parts

$$C1 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) - \tilde{\rho} \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\rangle$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) - \tilde{\rho} \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \rho(\Theta_{i}(\rho) - \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho})) \right\rangle - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}), (\rho - \tilde{\rho})\Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle$$

$$= C11$$

$$= C12$$

$$C11 = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \rho J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})) \right\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})) \right] \right\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho}), (\partial_{x_{i}} \rho) J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})) \right\rangle$$

$$= C111$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \rho J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})) \right\rangle$$

$$= C112$$

Applying Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, Sobolev's Lemma, (2.10)and the inequalities $||J^{-2}\partial_{x_i}||_{B(L^2,H^1)} \leq 1$, $||J^{-2}\partial_{x_i}^2||_{B(L^2)} \leq 1$,

$$C111 \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|(\partial_{x_{i}}\rho)J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|(\partial_{x_{i}}\rho)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}\|_{B(L^{2},H^{1})} \|P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho})\|$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho\|_{s} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}\|_{B(L^{2},H^{1})} \widetilde{L}_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s},\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|$$

$$\lesssim n \|\rho\|_{s} \widetilde{L}_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s},\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^{2}$$

$$C112 \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|\rho J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}(P(\rho) - P(\tilde{\rho}))\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\| \|\rho\|_{L^{\infty}} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}\|_{B(L^{2})} \|P(\rho) - P(\widetilde{\rho})\|
\lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\| \|\rho\|_{s} \|J^{-2}\partial_{x_{i}}^{2}\|_{B(L^{2})} \widetilde{L_{s}} (\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\widetilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\|
\lesssim n \|\rho\|_{s} \widetilde{L_{s}} (\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\widetilde{\rho}\|_{s}) \|\rho - \widetilde{\rho}\|^{2}$$

Integrating by parts, using Sobolev's Lemma, positivity of the pressure and $||J^{-2}||_{B(H^s,H^{s+2})} \leq 1$, we obtain

$$C12 = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \partial_{x_{i}} (\rho - \tilde{\rho}), \Theta_{i}(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}} (\rho - \tilde{\rho})^{2}, J^{-2} \partial_{x_{i}} P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho})^{2}, J^{-2} \Delta P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho})^{2}, J^{-2} P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle - \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho})^{2}, P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle \right]$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (\rho - \tilde{\rho})^{2}, J^{-2} P(\tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{2} \|J^{-2} P(\tilde{\rho})\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^{2}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{2} \|J^{-2}\|_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+2})} \|P(\tilde{\rho})\|_{s} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^{2} \lesssim \frac{1}{2} L_{s}(\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}, 0) \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^{2}$$

$$(3.16)$$

Substituting (3.14), (3.15) in (3.13), and (3.16) in (3.12); we have:

$$C1 = \left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \operatorname{div} \left[\rho \, \vec{\Theta}(\rho) - \tilde{\rho} \, \vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho}) \right] \right\rangle \lesssim \widetilde{C}(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2 \qquad (3.17)$$

where

$$\widetilde{C}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) = 2 \, n \|\rho\|_{s} \widetilde{L_{s}}(\|\rho\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}) + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s} L_{s}(\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}, 0)$$
(3.18)

Consider (2.12) in the last term in (3.11) we have:

$$C2 \leq \left| \left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, F(t, \rho) - F(t, \tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle \right| \leq \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\| \|F(t, \rho) - F(t, \tilde{\rho})\|$$

$$\leq \widetilde{M}_s(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2$$
(3.19)

Finally, substituting (3.17) and (3.19) in (3.11) we have

$$\left\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{F}(t, \rho) - \tilde{F}(t, \tilde{\rho}) \right\rangle \le L_0(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2$$
 (3.20)

with

$$L_0(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) = \widetilde{C}(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) + \widetilde{M}_s(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s)$$
(3.21)

This finishes the proof.

In what follows, we consider the linear part of (3.1) and prove certain properties of the semigroup ([41]) associated to it.

Applying the Fourier transform to linear part, we have:

$$\widehat{\partial_t \rho_u}(\xi) = \partial_t \widehat{\rho_u}(\xi) = -\mu \xi^2 \widehat{\rho_u}(\xi) \Rightarrow \widehat{\rho_u}(\xi) = e^{-\mu t \xi^2} \widehat{\rho_0}(\xi)$$
 (3.22)

Then

$$\rho_{\mu}(t) = U_{\mu}(t)\rho_0 = e^{\mu t\Delta}\rho_0 := (e^{-\mu t\xi^2}\widehat{\rho_0}(\xi))^{\vee}$$
(3.23)

In the next lemma, we will show the smoothing properties of semigroup $U_{\mu}(t)$

Lemma 3.1.2. Let $\lambda \in [0, \infty)$; $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

a) $U_{\mu}(t) \in B(H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), H^{s+\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^{n})), \forall t > 0 \text{ and satisfies:}$

$$||U_{\mu}(t)(\varphi)||_{s+\lambda} \le K_{\lambda} \left[1 + \left(\frac{1}{2\mu t}\right)^{\lambda} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\varphi||_{s}$$
 (3.24)

where $g_{\mu}(t) = K_{\lambda} \left[1 + \left(\frac{1}{2\mu t} \right)^{\lambda} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \in L^{1}_{loc}([0, \infty))$ if $\lambda < 2$, K_{λ} is a constant depending only on λ .

b) The maps $t \in (0, \infty) \to U_{\mu}(t)\varphi$ is continuous with respect to the topology of $H^{s+\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Proof. See [16],[17] and [18].
$$\Box$$

We are now in position to start the analysis of (3.1). The first step is to obtain a convenient integral equation that can be used to solve it.

Theorem 3.1.1. Problem (3.1) is equivalent to the integral equation

$$\rho_{\mu}(t) = e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_0 + \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')) dt'$$
 (3.25)

More precisely, if $\rho_{\mu} \in C([0, T_0], H^s)$ is a solution of (3.1) then ρ_{μ} satisfies (3.25). Conversely, if $\rho_{\mu} \in C([0, T_0], H^s)$ solves (3.25) then $\rho_{\mu} \in C^1([0, T_0], H^{s-2})$ and satisfies (3.1).

Proof. In the first step we prove that if $\rho_{\mu} \in C([0,T], H^s)$ is a solution of (3.1) then ρ_{μ} satisfies (3.25)

Using the method of variation of parameters and Fourier Transform, we propose the solution to the nonlinear transformed equation is in the form $\hat{\rho}_{\mu}(t) = C(t)e^{-\mu t\xi^2}$. Then, we substitute it in the transformed partial differential equation, to obtain

$$C(t) = \int_0^t \hat{\tilde{F}}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')) e^{\mu t' \xi^2} dt' + c_0$$
 (3.26)

where c_0 is a constant of integration

Using the initial condition ρ_0 , then $c_0 = C(0) = \hat{\rho_0}$

Therefore, applying inverse Fourier Transform, follows the integral equation for a solution.

On the other hand, we prove that a solution of the integral equation satisfies a partial differential equation.

We define

$$v(t) = \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' ; t \in [0, T_0]$$
 (3.27)

$$\frac{v(t+h)-v(t)}{h} = \frac{1}{h} \left\{ \int_{0}^{t+h} e^{\mu(t+h-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' - \int_{0}^{t} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' \right\} = \frac{1}{h} \left\{ \int_{0}^{t} e^{\mu h\Delta} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' + \int_{t}^{t+h} e^{\mu h\Delta} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' - \int_{0}^{t} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' \right\} = \frac{1}{h} \left(e^{\mu h\Delta} - Id \right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' + \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} e^{\mu(t+h-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' \right\} (3.28)$$

Applying the Bochner Integral Mean Value ([15],[49]) in the final equality with $\eta_h \in [t, t+h]$ follows

$$\frac{v(t+h)-v(t)}{h} = \frac{1}{h} \left(e^{\mu h\Delta} - Id\right) \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t',\rho_{\mu}(t')) dt' + e^{\mu(t+h-\eta_h)\Delta} \tilde{F}(\eta_h,\rho_{\mu}(\eta_h)) \quad (3.29)$$

Applying limit as $h \to 0^+$ in (3.29), we obtain

$$\partial_t^+ v(t) = \mu \Delta \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t', \rho_\mu(t')) dt' + \tilde{F}(t, \rho_\mu(t))$$
 (3.30)

Making the same analysis and considering h < 0, we have that $\partial_t^- v(t) = \partial_t^+ v(t)$. This implies that there exists $\partial_t v(t) = \partial_t^+ v(t) = \partial_t^- v(t)$ Now, considering the integral equation and the definition of v(t), we have

$$\partial_t \rho_\mu(t) = \partial_t \left[e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_0 + v(t) \right] = \partial_t \left(e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_0 \right) + \partial_t v(t) \tag{3.31}$$

Applying properties of continuous semigroup ([41, Chap. 1], [18, App.]) $e^{\mu t\Delta}$ in (3.31), follows the result

$$\partial_t \rho_\mu(t) = \mu \Delta e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_0 + \mu \Delta \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t', \rho_\mu(t')) dt' + \tilde{F}(t, \rho_\mu(t)) \quad (3.32)$$

$$= \mu \Delta \left[e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_0 + \int_0^t e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \tilde{F}(t', \rho_\mu(t')) dt' \right] + \tilde{F}(t, \rho_\mu(t))$$
 (3.33)

$$= \mu \Delta \rho_{\mu}(t) + \tilde{F}(t, \rho_{\mu}(t)) \tag{3.34}$$

Finally, as the the operator $\mu\Delta: H^s \longrightarrow H^{s-2}$ and $\tilde{F}(t, \rho_{\mu}(t)) \in H^{s-1} \hookrightarrow H^{s-2}$ we have that $\rho_{\mu}(t) \in C^1([0, T_0], H^{s-2})$.

We will prove that the above integral equation, has a unique solution in $C([0, T^{\mu}]; H^s)$ for any $0 < T^{\mu} \le T_0$ and for all $\mu > 0$.

Theorem 3.1.2. Let $\mu > 0$ be fixed and $\rho_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2}$. Then there exists $T^{\mu} = T(s, \|\rho_0\|_s, \mu)$ and a unique function $\rho_{\mu} \in C([0, T^{\mu}], H^s) \cap C((0, T^{\mu}]; H^{\infty})$ satisfying the integral equation (3.25).

Proof. We have:

$$\rho_{\mu}(t) = \underbrace{e^{\mu t \Delta} \rho_{0}}_{\in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{\mu(t-t')\Delta} \underbrace{\left[\operatorname{div}\left[\rho_{\mu}(1-\Delta)^{-1} \nabla P(\rho_{\mu})\right] + F(t', \rho_{\mu}(t'))\right] dt'}_{\in V = H^{s-1}+\lambda(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

$$(3.35)$$

Consider the spaces $V = H^{s-1+\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n), Y = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Thus, we have that $V \subseteq Y \subseteq X = H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $\lambda \geq 1$. In the rest of the proof of theorem, we use $\lambda = 1$ for simplicity.

Consider the map

$$B(v(t)) = U_{\mu}(t)\rho_0 + \int_0^t U_{\mu}(t - t')\tilde{F}(t', v(t')) dt'$$
 (3.36)

defined in the complete metric space

$$X_s(T_0) = \left\{ v \in C([0, T_0], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)) : \left\| v(t) - U_\mu(t)\rho_0 \right\| \le M, \ \forall t \in [0, T_0] \right\}$$
(3.37)

when the topology in the space $X_s(T_0)$ is defined by the sup-norm, that is $d(v, w) = \sup_{t \in [0, T_0]} \|v(t) - w(t)\|_s$, with $v, w \in X_s(T_0)$

We will show that by taking T^{μ} sufficiently small the map (3.36) is a contraction in $X_s(T_0)$. Once this is established, we will show that this is in fact the only possible solution in $C([0, T^{\mu}], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$.

Let $v(t) \in X_s(T_0)$, it is easy to see that $||v(t)||_s \leq M + ||\rho_0||_s$. The continuity of the semigroup $U_{\mu}(t)$ and $\tilde{F}(t,\rho)$ implies that $B(v(t)) \in C([0,T_0],H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$.

On other hand, considering the properties of semigroup $U_{\mu}(t)$ in Lemma 3.1.2 and $\tilde{F}(t, v(t))$, yields

$$||B(v(t)) - U_{\mu}(t)\rho_{0}||_{s} \leq \int_{0}^{t} ||U_{\mu}(t - t')\tilde{F}(t', v(t'))||_{s} dt'$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t')||\tilde{F}(t', v(t'))||_{s-1} dt'$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t')\gamma(||v(t')||_{s}, 0)||v(t')||_{s} dt'$$

$$\leq (M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s})\gamma(M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s}, 0) \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(r) dr$$

$$\leq (M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s})\gamma(M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s}, 0) \int_{0}^{T_{0}} g_{\mu}(r) dr$$

As $g_{\mu}(r) \in L^1_{loc}([0,\infty))$

$$\gamma(M + \|\rho_0\|_s, 0) \int_0^{T_0} g_\mu(r) dr \longrightarrow 0, \text{ as } T_0 \to 0$$
 (3.39)

Then

$$\exists \tau \in (0, T_0] : \gamma(M + \|\rho_0\|_s, 0) \int_0^\tau g_\mu(r) \, dr \le \frac{M}{M + \|\rho_0\|_s} \le 1 \tag{3.40}$$

Therefore, we have

$$\exists \tau \in (0, T_0] : ||B(v(t)) - U_{\mu}(t)\rho_0||_s \le M \Rightarrow B(v(t)) \in X(\tau)$$
 (3.41)

Next, we will prove that this map is a contraction: Let $v(t), w(t) \in X(\tau)$

$$||B(v(t)) - B(w(t))||_{s} \leq \int_{0}^{t} ||U_{\mu}(t - t')[\tilde{F}(t', v(t')) - \tilde{F}(t', w(t'))]||_{s} dt'$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t') ||\tilde{F}(t', v(t')) - \tilde{F}(t', w(t'))||_{s-1} dt'$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t') \gamma(||v(t')||_{s}, ||w(t')||_{s}) ||v(t') - w(t')||_{s} dt'$$

$$\leq \left[\gamma(M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s}, M + ||\rho_{0}||_{s}) \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(r) dr\right] d(v, w)$$
(3.42)

Then

$$d(B(v), B(w)) \le \left[\gamma(M + \|\rho_0\|_s, M + \|\rho_0\|_s) \int_0^\tau g_\mu(r) dr \right] d(v, w)$$
 (3.43)

Similarly

$$\gamma(M + \|\rho_0\|_s, M + \|\rho_0\|_s) \int_0^\tau g_\mu(r) dr \longrightarrow 0, \text{ as } \tau \to 0$$
 (3.44)

Then

$$\exists T^{\mu} \in (0, \tau] : \gamma(M + \|\rho_0\|_s, M + \|\rho_0\|_s) \int_0^{T^{\mu}} g_{\mu}(r) dr = \delta < 1 \qquad (3.45)$$

Therefore, we have

$$\exists T^{\mu} \in (0, \tau] : d(B(v), B(w)) < \delta d(v, w) \tag{3.46}$$

Existence and uniqueness in $X_s(T_0)$ is a usual application of Banach's fixed Point Theorem. This gives us T^{μ} and $\rho_{\mu} \in C([0, T^{\mu}], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$. The fact that $\rho_{\mu} \in C((0, T^{\mu}], H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ now follows from the integral equation using a simple bootstrapping argument with $\lambda \in (1, 2)$

Next we deal with uniqueness in $C([0, T^{\mu}], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$. This is a immediately consequence of the following weak continuous dependence result (weak in the sense that we consider the same intervals of existence of solutions).

Lemma 3.1.3. Let $\mu > 0$ and ρ_{μ} , $\tilde{\rho}_{\mu}$ solutions of (3.1) in $C([0, T^{\mu}], H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$ with initial condition data ρ_{0} , $\tilde{\rho}_{0}$ respectively. Then

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \le e^{\gamma(\widehat{M},\widehat{M})} \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{s}$$
 (3.47)

 $where \ \widehat{M} = \max \left[\ \sup\nolimits_{t \in [0,T^{\mu}]} \| \rho_{\mu}(t) \|_{s}, \sup\nolimits_{t \in [0,T^{\mu}]} \| \widetilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t) \|_{s} \right]$

Proof. Let $\rho_{\mu}(t)$, $\tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t) \in C((0, T^{\mu}], H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$, with initial conditions ρ_{0} , $\tilde{\rho}_{0}$ respectively.

Then

$$\begin{split} &\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \\ &\leq \|U_{\mu}(t)(\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0})\|_{s} + \left\| \int_{0}^{t} U_{\mu}(t - t') \left[\tilde{F}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')) - \tilde{F}(t', \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t')) \right] dt' \right\|_{s} \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t') \|\tilde{F}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')) - \tilde{F}(t', \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t'))\|_{s-1} dt' \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t') \gamma(\|\rho_{\mu}(t')\|_{s}, \|\tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t')\|_{s}) \|\rho_{\mu}(t') - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t')\|_{s} dt' \\ &\leq \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{s} + \gamma(\widehat{M}, \widehat{M}) \int_{0}^{t} g_{\mu}(t - t') \|\rho_{\mu}(t') - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t')\|_{s} dt' \end{split}$$

$$(3.48)$$

Applying Gronwall's inequality in (3.48)

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \le e^{\gamma(\widehat{M},\widehat{M})} \|\rho_{0} - \tilde{\rho}_{0}\|_{s}$$
 (3.49)

Finally, uniqueness of solution in $C([0,T^{\mu}],H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$ follows of the above inequality taking the same initial conditions for the solution, i.e.,

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \le 0 \Rightarrow \rho_{\mu}(t) = \tilde{\rho}_{\mu}(t), \ \forall t \in [0, T^{\mu}]$$

$$(3.50)$$

This finishes the proof.

3.1.2 Existence and uniqueness of BFE

Our aim in this subsection is to establish local existence and uniqueness theorems for the problem (1.6) in certain Sobolev spaces. To do this, one of the fundamental steps is to prove that the solution of (3.1) can be extended to an interval independent of μ , because the main difficulty is that $T^{\mu} \to 0$ as $\mu \to 0$. Finally we will take the limit when $\mu \to 0$.

Lemma 3.1.4. Assume that $\mu > 0$ and that P, F satisfy (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11), (2.12) respectively for some fixed $s > \frac{n}{2}$. Then there exists $\tilde{T}_s = \tilde{T}(s, \|\rho_0\|_s)$ independent of $\mu > 0$, such that all solutions $\rho_{\mu}(t)$ can be extended, if necessary, to $(0, \tilde{T}_s]$ satisfying $\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_s^2 \leq h(t)$; $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$.

Proof. Considering $\rho = \rho_{\mu}(t) \in C((0, T^{\mu}]; H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$, the following calculations are entirely rigorous.

$$\partial_{t} \|\rho\|_{s}^{2} = 2 \left\langle \rho, \partial_{t} \rho \right\rangle_{s}$$

$$= 2 \left[\left\langle \rho, \mu \Delta \rho \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle \rho, F(t, \rho) \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle \rho, \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \vec{\Theta}(\rho) \right) \right\rangle_{s} \right]$$

$$= B1$$

$$= B2$$

$$= B3$$

$$(3.51)$$

As $H_0 = -\Delta$ is a self-adjoint and positive operator, in H^s .

$$B1 = -\mu \langle \rho, H_0 \rho \rangle_s = -\mu \overbrace{\langle H_0 \rho, \rho \rangle_s}^{\geq 0} \leq 0$$
 (3.52)

Applying Cauchy Schwartz inequality and properties of F

$$B2 = \langle \rho, F(t, \rho) \rangle_{s} \leq \left| \langle \rho, F(t, \rho) \rangle_{s} \right|$$

$$\leq \|\rho\|_{s} \|F(t, \rho)\|_{s} = \|\rho\|_{s} \|F(t, \rho) - \overbrace{F(t, 0)}^{=0} \|_{s}$$

$$\leq M_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, 0) \|\rho\|_{s}^{2}$$

$$(3.53)$$

Using the commutator

$$\left[\partial_{x_i} J^s, \Theta_i(\rho)\right] \rho = \partial_{x_i} J^s(\rho \Theta_i(\rho)) - \Theta_i(\rho) \partial_{x_i} J^s \rho \tag{3.54}$$

We expand

$$B3 = \left\langle \rho, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \right\rangle_{s} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \rho, \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \right\rangle_{s}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle J^{s} \rho, J^{s} \partial_{x_{i}} \left[\rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \right\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle J^{s} \rho, \partial_{x_{i}} J^{s} \left[\rho \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \right\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle J^{s} \rho, \left[\partial_{x_{i}} J^{s}, \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \rho \right\rangle + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle J^{s} \rho, \Theta_{i}(\rho) \partial_{x_{i}} (J^{s} \rho) \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle J^{s} \rho, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[\partial_{x_{i}} J^{s}, \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right] \rho \right\rangle + \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \partial_{x_{i}} (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, \Theta_{i}(\rho) \right\rangle}_{-R32}$$

Thus, using Cauchy Schwartz inequality, Lemma A.1.3 in Appendix and properties of the pressure

$$B31 = \left\langle J^{s} \rho, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[\partial_{x_{i}} J^{s}, (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \partial_{x_{i}} P(\rho) \right] \rho \right\rangle$$

$$\leq \left\| J^{s} \rho \right\| \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[\partial_{x_{i}} J^{s}, \partial_{x_{i}} (1 - \Delta)^{-1} P(\rho) \right] \rho \right\|$$

$$\leq c \|\rho\|_{s} \left[\left\| J^{2} J^{-2} P(\rho) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\| J^{s} \rho \right\| + \left\| J^{s+2} J^{-2} P(\rho) \right\| \|\rho\|_{L^{\infty}} \right]$$

$$\lesssim \|\rho\|_{s} \left[\left\| P(\rho) \right\|_{s} \|\rho\|_{s} + \left\| P(\rho) \right\|_{s} \|\rho\|_{s} \right]$$

$$\lesssim 2 \|\rho\|_{s}^{3} L_{s} (\|\rho\|_{s}, 0)$$

$$(3.56)$$

Integrating by parts, considering that the Resolvent $J^{-2} = (1 - \Delta)^{-1}$ preserves positivity ([43, Vol. II]) and Sobolev's Lemma

$$B32 = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, \partial_{x_{i}} (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \partial_{x_{i}} P(\rho) \right\rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \left\langle (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \Delta P(\rho) \right\rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \left\langle (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, (1 - \Delta)^{-1} P(\rho) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, P(\rho) \right\rangle$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (J^{s} \rho)^{2}, P(\rho) \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{2} \|P(\rho)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|J^{s} \rho\|^{2}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{2} \|P(\rho)\|_{s} \|\rho\|_{s}^{2} \lesssim \frac{1}{2} \|\rho\|_{s}^{3} L_{s}(\|\rho\|_{s}, 0)$$

$$(3.57)$$

Summing (3.52), (3.53), (3.56), (3.57) in (3.51), we have the final estimate:

$$\partial_{t} \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} \lesssim M_{s} (\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}, 0) \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} + \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{3} L_{s} (\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}, 0)$$

$$= M_{s} ((\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}, 0) \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} + (\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}} L_{s} ((\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}, 0)$$

$$= G(\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})$$

$$(3.59)$$

Let h(t) be the maximal solution ([8]) of initial value problem for ordinary differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h(t) = G(h(t)) \\ h(0) = \|\rho_0\|_s^2 \end{cases}$$

Then $\|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} \leq h(t)$; $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$; $\tilde{T}_{s} \in [0, T_{0})$, whenever both sides are defined. This finishes the proof since h(t) not depends of μ and we can extend $\rho_{\mu}(t)$ to interval $[0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$.

We are now in position to state and prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.1.3. Let $\rho_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$. Then there exists $\tilde{T}_s = \tilde{T}(s, \|\rho_0\|_s) > 0$ and unique $\rho \in C_+([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$. Moreover $\rho(t)$ satisfies that $\partial_t \rho \in C_+^1([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, $\|\rho(t)\|_s^2 \leq h(t)$, and the initial value problem (1.6).

Proof. We choose any such interval as in the preceding theorem, and write $\rho = \rho_{\mu}(t)$, $\tilde{\rho} = \rho_{\nu}(t)$; $\mu, \nu > 0$; $\rho_{\mu}(0) = \rho_{\nu}(0) = \rho_{0}$. Let $M^{2} = \sup_{t \in [0,\tilde{T}_{s}]} h(t)$, and note that

$$\partial_{t} \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^{2} = 2 \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \partial_{t}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \rangle$$

$$= 2 \left[\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{F}(t, \rho) - \tilde{F}(t, \tilde{\rho}) \rangle + \underbrace{\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \mu \Delta \rho - \nu \Delta \tilde{\rho} \rangle}_{1} \right]$$
(3.60)

Integrating by parts and Cauchy Schwartz inequality implies that

$$A = \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \mu \Delta \rho - \nu \Delta \tilde{\rho} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \mu \Delta \rho - \nu \Delta \rho + \nu \Delta \rho - \nu \Delta \tilde{\rho} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, (\mu - \nu) \Delta \rho \rangle - \nu \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, H_{0}(\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \rangle$$

$$\leq (\mu - \nu) \langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \Delta \rho \rangle \leq |\mu - \nu| |\langle \rho - \tilde{\rho}, \Delta \rho \rangle|$$

$$= |\mu - \nu| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \partial_{x_{i}} \rho, \partial_{x_{i}} (\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \rangle$$

$$\leq |\mu - \nu| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \partial_{x_{i}} \rho, \partial_{x_{i}} (\rho - \tilde{\rho}) \rangle$$

$$\leq |\mu - \nu| \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\partial_{x_{i}} \rho| ||\rho||_{s \leq M} \leq ||\rho||_{1} \leq ||\rho||_{s} \leq M$$

$$\leq |\mu - \nu| \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\partial_{x_{i}} \rho|| ||\rho||_{s} \leq M$$

$$\leq 2nM^{2} |\mu - \nu|$$

$$(3.61)$$

Finally, substituting (3.3), (3.61) in (3.60); we have:

$$\partial_t \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2 \le 4nM^2 |\mu - \nu| + 2L_0(\|\rho\|_s, \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2$$

$$\le 4nM^2 |\mu - \nu| + 2L_0(M, M) \|\rho - \tilde{\rho}\|^2$$
(3.62)

Integrating the last estimate from 0 to t:

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\|^{2} \le 4 n M^{2} \tilde{T}_{s} |\mu - \nu| + \int_{0}^{t} 2 L_{0}(M, M) \|\rho_{\mu}(\tau) - \rho_{\nu}(\tau)\|^{2} d\tau \quad (3.63)$$

Gronwall's inequality, then shows that

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\|^{2} \leq 4 n M^{2} \tilde{T}_{s} |\mu - \nu| e^{2\tilde{T}_{s} L_{0}(M, M)}$$

$$\lim_{\mu \to 0, \nu \to 0} \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\|^{2} = 0 \Rightarrow \rho_{\mu}(t) \longrightarrow \rho_{\nu}(t) \text{ in } L^{2}, \ t \in [0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$$
(3.64)

Now, $\rho_{\mu}(t)$ is a Cauchy net in the space $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, which is complete. Therefore, there exists $\rho(t) \in C([0, \tilde{T}_{s}], L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$ that satisfies

$$\lim_{\mu \to 0} \sup_{[0,\tilde{T}_s]} \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho(t)\| = 0$$

Thus $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s] \to \rho_{\mu}(t)$ is continuous and uniformly bounded in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We claim that $\{\rho_{\mu}(t)\}_{\mu>0}$ is a weak Cauchy net in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ uniformly with respect to $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$. Indeed, given $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\epsilon > 0$, choose $\varphi_{\epsilon} \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\|\varphi - \varphi_{\epsilon}\|_s < \epsilon$.

$$\langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi \rangle_{s} = \langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi - \varphi_{\epsilon} \rangle_{s} + \langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi_{\epsilon} \rangle_{s}$$

$$\leq |\langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi - \varphi_{\epsilon} \rangle_{s}| + |\langle J^{s}(\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)), J^{s}\varphi_{\epsilon} \rangle|$$

$$\leq ||\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)||_{s}||\varphi - \varphi_{\epsilon}||_{s} + ||\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)||||\varphi_{\epsilon}||_{2s}$$

$$\leq 2 M \epsilon + ||\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)||||\varphi_{\epsilon}||_{2s}$$
(3.65)

So that $\lim_{\mu\to 0,\nu\to 0} \sup_{[0,\tilde{T}_s]} \langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi \rangle_s = 0$ uniformly.

Since $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is reflexive, it is weakly complete ([15],[49]), and there exists $v(t) \in C_w([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$ satisfying

$$\lim_{\nu \to 0} \langle \rho_{\mu}(t), \varphi \rangle_{s} = \langle v(t), \varphi \rangle_{s} \,\forall \varphi \in S(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$
(3.66)

It is easy to see that $v(t) = \rho(t) \,\forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$, as a consequence of uniqueness of weakly limit. In particular, $\rho(t)$ is weakly continuous and uniformly bounded by the function $\sqrt{h(t)}$. Indeed,

$$\|\rho(t)\|_{s} = \sup_{\|\psi\|_{s}=1} |\langle \rho(t), \psi \rangle_{s}| = \sup_{\|\psi\|_{s}=1} \lim_{\mu \to 0} |\langle \rho_{\mu}(t), \psi \rangle_{s}|$$

$$\leq \sup_{\|\psi\|_{s}=1} \lim_{\mu \to 0} \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \|\psi\|_{s} \leq \sqrt{h(t)}$$
(3.67)

It remains to prove that $\rho(t) \in C^1_w([0,\tilde{T}_s],H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^n))$. Let $\psi \in H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\langle \rho_{\mu}(t), \psi \rangle_{s-1} = \langle U_{\mu}(t)\rho_{0}, \psi \rangle_{s-1} + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \tilde{F}(t', \rho_{\mu}(t')), \psi \rangle_{s-1} dt', \forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$$

$$(3.68)$$

Since $\rho_{\mu}(t) \rightharpoonup \rho(t)$ in $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, it follows that, $\tilde{F}(t, \rho_{\mu}(t)) \rightharpoonup \tilde{F}(t, \rho(t))$ uniformly in $H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, therefore, taking the limit as $\mu \to 0$ in (3.68) we obtain

$$\langle \rho(t), \psi \rangle_{s-1} = \langle \rho_0, \psi \rangle_{s-1} + \int_0^t \langle \tilde{F}(t', \rho(t')), \psi \rangle_{s-1} dt', \forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
 (3.69)

As the integrand on the right-hand side of (3.69) is a continuous function, from the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, follows that:

$$\langle \partial_t \rho(t), \psi \rangle_{s-1} = \langle \tilde{F}(t, \rho(t)), \psi \rangle_{s-1}, \forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
(3.70)

Since the map $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s] \longrightarrow \tilde{F}(t, \rho(t))$ is weakly continuous and uniformly bounded, Petti's Theorem ([49, Chap.V]) implies that it is strongly measurable. Thus we may define a Bochner integral

$$\int_0^t \tilde{F}(t', \rho(t')) dt' \tag{3.71}$$

Combining this remark with (3.69) we conclude

$$\rho(t) = \rho_0 + \int_0^t \tilde{F}(t', \rho(t')) dt'$$
 (3.72)

Thus $\rho(t) \in AC([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Therefore $\partial_t \rho(t)$ exists almost everywhere in $[0, \tilde{T}_s]$ and is given by

$$\partial_t \rho(t) = \tilde{F}(t, \rho(t)) = \operatorname{div}\left[\rho(t)J^{-2}\nabla P(\rho(t))\right] + F(t, \rho(t)), a.e., t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
(3.73)

Next we claim that there is only such function in the class

$$\Omega(\tilde{T}_s) = C([0, \tilde{T}_s], L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap C_w([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap AC([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}^n))$$

Let $\rho(t), \eta(t) \in \Omega(\tilde{T}_s)$ with $\rho(0) = \eta(0) = \rho_0$, a calculation similar to that leading to (3.62) implies:

$$\partial_t \|\rho(t) - \eta(t)\|^2 \le 2L_0(M, M) \|\rho(t) - \eta(t)\|^2 \tag{3.74}$$

Integrating from 0 to t:

$$\|\rho(t) - \eta(t)\|^{2} \le \underbrace{\|\rho(0) - \eta(0)\|^{2}}_{=0} + \int_{0}^{t} 2L_{0}(M, M)\|\rho(t') - \eta(t')\|^{2} dt' \quad (3.75)$$

Applying Gronwall's lemma in the last estimate, we have:

$$\|\rho(t) - \eta(t)\|^2 \le 0 \Rightarrow \rho(t) = \eta(t) \in \Omega(\tilde{T}_s)$$
(3.76)

It remains to prove that the unique solution in $\Omega(\tilde{T}_s)$ belongs to $C_+([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$. Let $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be such that $\|\varphi\|_s = 1$. We have

$$|\langle \rho(t), \varphi \rangle_s| \le ||\rho(t)||_s \le \sqrt{h(t)}, \, \forall \varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), \, \forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
(3.77)

Therefore

$$|\langle \rho_0, \varphi \rangle_s| = \lim_{t \to 0^+} |\langle \rho(t), \varphi \rangle_s| = \liminf_{t \to 0^+} |\langle \rho(t), \varphi \rangle_s|$$

$$\leq \lim_{t \to 0^+} \|\rho(t)\|_s \leq \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \|\rho(t)\|_s$$

$$\leq \lim_{t \to 0^+} \sup \sqrt{h(t)} = \|\rho_0\|_s \ \forall \varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

Taking the sup over $\|\varphi\|_s = 1$ we conclude that

$$\liminf_{t \to 0^+} \|\rho(t)\|_s = \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \|\rho(t)\|_s = \|\rho_0\|_s \tag{3.79}$$

so that the limit of $\|\rho(t)\|_s$ exists as $t\to 0^+$ and

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \|\rho(t)\|_s = \|\rho_0\|_s \tag{3.80}$$

Since $\rho(t) \rightharpoonup \rho_0$ weakly in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it follows that

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \rho(t) = \rho_0 \tag{3.81}$$

in the norm of $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Remark Kato's Theory and uniqueness of solution, implies that $\rho \in C([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)), s > \frac{n}{2} + 1.$

3.2 Comparison Principle for the BFE

Consider the initial value problem (BFE) with $F(t, \rho) = 0$, $P(\rho) = \rho^{2k}$, k = 1, 2, 3....

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div} \left(\rho \, \vec{\mathbf{v}} \right) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ t \in (0, T_0] \\
\vec{\mathbf{v}} = -\nabla (-\Delta + 1)^{-1} \rho^{2k} = -\vec{\Theta}(\rho) \\
(\rho(0), \, \vec{\mathbf{v}}(0)) = (\rho_0, \, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_0)
\end{cases}$$
(3.82)

Theorem 3.2.1. (Comparison Principle). Let $(\rho, \vec{\mathbf{v}})$ and $(\eta, \vec{\mathbf{w}})$ be solutions of (BFE) with $P(\rho) = \rho^{2k}$, $P(\eta) = \eta^{2k}$, $k = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$; and initial values $(\rho_0, \vec{v_0})$ and $(\eta_0, \vec{w_0})$ respectively. Then

$$0 \le \eta_0(x) \le \rho_0(x) \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \Rightarrow 0 \le \eta(x,t) \le \rho(x,t) \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times [0,T_0]$$
 (3.83)

Proof. Let $R(t,y) = \rho(\vec{\phi}(t,y),t)$; $S(t,y) = \eta(\vec{\psi}(t,y),t)$, and Q(t,y) = R(t,y) - S(t,y) where $\vec{\phi}(t,y)$ and $\vec{\psi}(t,y)$ satisfy the following equations respectively.

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial \vec{\phi}}{\partial t}(t,y) = \vec{\mathbf{v}}(\vec{\phi}(t,y),t) & \vec{\phi}(t,y) = (\phi_1(t,y), \phi_2(t,y), ..., \phi_n(t,y)) \\
\vec{\phi}(0,y) = y & v_i = -\partial_{x_i}(1-\Delta)^{-1}\rho^{2k}
\end{cases}$$
(3.84)

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial \vec{\psi}}{\partial t}(t,y) = \vec{\mathbf{w}}(\vec{\psi}(t,y),t) & \vec{\psi}(t,y) = (\psi_1(t,y), \psi_2(t,y), ..., \psi_n(t,y)) \\
\vec{\psi}(0,y) = y & w_i = -\partial_{x_i}(1-\Delta)^{-1}\eta^{2k}
\end{cases}$$
(3.85)

Combining (3.82) with (3.84), and (3.82) with (3.85) we have that R(t) and S(t) satisfy the ordinary differential equations, respectively

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dR}{dt} = -R\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}} & \frac{dS}{dt} = -S\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{w}} \\ R(0,y) = \rho_0(y) & S(0,y) = \eta_0(y) \end{cases}$$
(3.86)

Solving (3.86), we obtain:

$$R(t) = R(0) \exp\left[-\int_0^t \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}}(\vec{\phi}(s, y), s) \, ds\right] \xrightarrow{\rho_0(y) \ge 0} R(t) \ge 0 \tag{3.87}$$

Analogously we have that:

$$S(t) = S(0) \exp\left[-\int_0^t \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}}(\vec{\psi}(s, y), s) ds\right] \stackrel{\eta_0(y) \ge 0}{\Longrightarrow} S(t) \ge 0$$
 (3.88)

On the other hand, differentiating Q(t):

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = \frac{dR}{dt} - \frac{dS}{dt} = (-\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}})R(t) + (\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}})S(t)
= -\rho \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}} + \eta \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}}
= -(\rho - \eta)\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}} + \eta(\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}} - \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}})
= -Q(t)(\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}}) + S(t)(\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}} - \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}})$$
(3.89)

Then

$$\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}} = -\operatorname{div} \vec{\Theta}(\rho)$$

$$= -\operatorname{div} J^{-2} \nabla \rho^{2k} = -\operatorname{div} \nabla J^{-2} \rho^{2k}$$

$$= -\Delta (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \rho^{2k} = (1 - \Delta - 1)(1 - \Delta)^{-1} \rho^{2k}$$

$$= \rho^{2k} - (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \rho^{2k}$$
(3.90)

Analogously

$$\operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{w}} = \dots = \eta^{2k} - (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \eta^{2k}$$
 (3.91)

Substituting (3.90), (3.91) in (3.89):

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = -Q(t)(\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}}) + S(t)\left(\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{w}} - \operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}}\right)
= -Q(t)(\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}}) + S(t)\left(\eta^{2k} - (1-\Delta)^{-1}\eta^{2k} - \rho^{2k} + (1-\Delta)^{-1}\rho^{2k}\right)
= -Q(t)(\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}}) - S(t)\left(\rho^{2k} - \eta^{2k}\right) + S(t)(1-\Delta)^{-1}(\rho^{2k} - \eta^{2k})
= -Q(t)(\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}}) - S(t)\underbrace{\left(\rho - \eta\right)}_{Q(t)}\underbrace{\left(\sum_{i=0}^{2k-1}\rho^{2k-1-i}\eta^{i}\right)}_{P(\rho,\eta)}
+ S(t)(1-\Delta)^{-1}\left[\left(\rho - \eta\right)\left(\sum_{i=0}^{2k-1}\rho^{2k-1-i}\eta^{i}\right)\right]
\xrightarrow{B(t,Q)} (3.92)$$

As consequence of the above calculation, we have a new ordinary differential equation for Q(t), i.e.:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{dQ}{dt} = -\left[\operatorname{div}\vec{\mathbf{v}} + S(t)P(R(t), S(t))\right]Q(t) + B(t, Q) \\
Q(0) = \rho_0(y) - \eta_0(y)
\end{cases}$$
(3.93)

Applying method of variation of parameters in (3.93), the integral solution is:

$$Q(t) = U(t,0)Q(0) + \int_0^t U(t,s)B(s,Q(s)) ds$$
 (3.94)

where

$$U(t,s) = \exp\left[-\int_{s}^{t} \left[\operatorname{div}\left(\vec{\mathbf{v}}(\vec{\phi}(\tau,y),\tau)\right) + S(\tau)P(R(\tau),S(\tau))\right]d\tau\right]. \quad (3.95)$$

In view of conditions for ρ_0 and η_0 , we have that $R(t) \geq 0$ and $S(t) \geq 0$. Consider the sequence

$$Q_{n+1}(t) = U(t,0)Q(0) + \int_0^t U(t,s)B(s,Q_n(s))ds$$

$$Q_0(t) = \rho_0(y) - \eta_0(y)$$

 $n = 1, 2,$

37

If $Q(0) \ge 0$, then $Q_n(t) \ge 0$, for all n. Thus

$$Q(t) = \rho(\vec{\phi}(t,y),t) - \eta(\vec{\psi}(t,y),t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} Q_n(t) \ge 0$$

To complete the proof we need to show the functions $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \to \vec{\phi}(t,y) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \to \vec{\psi}(t,y) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ are onto. To do this, we analyze in detail the map $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \to \vec{\phi}(t,y) \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

From (3.84), integrating de 0 a t, we obtain:

$$\phi_i(t) - y_i = \int_0^t v_i(\vec{\phi}(s, y), s) \, ds; \, i = 1, 2, \dots$$

Then

$$|\phi_i(t) - y_i| \le \int_0^t |v_i(\vec{\phi}(s, y), s)| ds \le a_i(\|\rho_0\|_s, t)t, i = 1, 2, \dots; s > \frac{n}{2}$$

$$y_i - a_i(\|\rho_0\|_s, t) \le \phi_i(t, y) \le y_i + a_i(\|\rho_0\|_s, t), \forall y_i \in \mathbb{R}$$

Taking $z_i \in \mathbb{R}$; $y_i^{(1)} << 0, y_i^{(2)} >> 0$ such that $z_i \in (y_i^{(1)}, y_i^{(2)})$ we have:

$$y_i^{(1)} + a_i(\|\rho_0\|_s, t) < z_i < y_i^{(2)} - a_i(\|\rho_0\|_s, t)$$

Therefore

$$\phi_i(t, y_i^{(1)}) < z_i < \phi_i(t, y_i^{(2)})$$

The theorem of the average value, for continuous functions ϕ_i implies that exists $y_i \in (y_i^{(1)}, y_i^{(2)})$ and satisfies $\phi_i(t, y_i) = z_i$

An analogous argument, proves that the map $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \vec{\psi}(t,y)$ is onto. \square

3.3 Global estimates in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$

In this section we obtain the global H^s -estimate for the solution of Brinkman Flow equation. This will be a consequence of global-well posedness of the regularized problem.

Theorem 3.3.1. (Global Solution). Let $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$, $P(\rho) = \rho^{2k}$, $F \equiv 0$ and $\rho_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $0 \le \rho_0(x) \le 1$ in \mathbb{R}^n . Then (3.82) is globally well-posed in the sense described in Chapter 1 and satisfies $0 \le \rho(x,t) \le 1$, $\forall t \ge 0$.

Proof. From the Comparison Principle follows that $0 \le \rho(x,t) \le 1$. Using the regularized initial value problem, with the simplified notations $\rho_{\mu}(t) \equiv \tilde{\rho}$; $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_{\mu}(t) \equiv \vec{\mathbf{v}}$.

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t \tilde{\rho} - \mu \Delta \tilde{\rho} + \operatorname{div} \left[\tilde{\rho} \, \vec{\mathbf{v}} \right] = 0 \\
\vec{\mathbf{v}} - \Delta \vec{\mathbf{v}} = -\nabla \tilde{\rho}^{2k} \\
(\tilde{\rho}(0), \vec{\mathbf{v}}(0)) = (\tilde{\rho}_0, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_0)
\end{cases}$$
(3.96)

We have that $\vec{\mathbf{v}} = -(1-\Delta)^{-1}\nabla \tilde{\rho}^{2k} = -J^{-2}\nabla \tilde{\rho}^{2k} = -\vec{\Theta}(\tilde{\rho})$

Applying J^s to regularized equation:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(J^s\tilde{\rho}) - \mu(J^s\Delta\tilde{\rho}) + J^s \operatorname{div}\left(\tilde{\rho}\,\vec{\mathbf{v}}\right) = 0 \tag{3.97}$$

Multiplying (3.97) by $J^s \tilde{\rho}$ and integrate over \mathbb{R}^n

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int (J^s\tilde{\rho})^2 dx = \mu \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})J^s(\Delta\tilde{\rho}) dx - \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})(J^s\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\rho}\,\vec{\mathbf{v}})) dx \quad (3.98)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int (J^s\tilde{\rho})^2 dx = \underbrace{\mu \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})\Delta(J^s\tilde{\rho}) dx}_{\leq 0} - \sum_{i=1}^n \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})\partial_{x_i}J^s(\tilde{\rho}\,v_i) dx \quad (3.99)$$

Using the commutator $[\partial_{x_i}J^s, v_i]\tilde{\rho} = \partial_{x_i}J^s(\tilde{\rho}\,v_i) - v_i\partial_{x_i}J^s\tilde{\rho}$, we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int (J^s\tilde{\rho})^2 dx \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})[\partial_{x_i}J^s, v_i]\tilde{\rho} dx - \sum_{i=1}^n \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})v_i\partial_{x_i}J^s\tilde{\rho} dx$$
(3.100)

Integrating by parts in (3.100)

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int (J^s\tilde{\rho})^2 dx \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \int (J^s\tilde{\rho})[\partial_{x_i}J^s, v_i]\tilde{\rho} dx + \frac{1}{2}\int (J^s\tilde{\rho})^2 \operatorname{div} \vec{\mathbf{v}} dx \quad (3.101)$$

Using (3.90) in (3.101)

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 dx \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \int (J^s \tilde{\rho}) [\partial_{x_i} J^s, v_i] \tilde{\rho} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 \tilde{\rho}^{2k} dx
-\frac{1}{2} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{\rho}^{2k} dx$$
(3.102)

From the second equation in (3.96) we have $v_i = -\partial_{x_i}(1-\Delta)^{-1}\tilde{\rho}^{2k}$. Substituting it in (3.102)

$$\frac{\frac{d}{dt} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 dx \leq \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 \tilde{\rho}^{2k} dx - \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{\rho}^{2k} dx
+ 2 \int (J^s \tilde{\rho}) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n [\partial_{x_i} J^s, \partial_{x_i} (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{\rho}^{2k}] \tilde{\rho} \right) dx$$
(3.103)

Observing that the third term it is non negative, and applying Cauchy Schwartz inequality in the fourth term; we observe:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 dx \le \|\tilde{\rho}^{2k}\|_{L^{\infty}} \int (J^s \tilde{\rho})^2 dx
+ 2 \|J^s \tilde{\rho}\| \left\| \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\partial_{x_i} J^s, \partial_{x_i} (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{\rho}^{2k} \right] \tilde{\rho} \right\| \quad (3.104)$$

Using Lemma A.1.3 of Appendix, in (3.104), with $f = (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{\rho}^{2k}$ and $g = \tilde{\rho}$, we obtain:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}^{2} \leq \|\tilde{\rho}^{2k}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}^{2} + 2c \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s} \left[\|\tilde{\rho}^{2k}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s} + \|\tilde{\rho}^{2k}\|_{s} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}} \right]$$
(3.105)

Applying Corollary A.1.1 in (3.105):

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s^2 \lesssim \|\tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2k} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s^2 \tag{3.106}$$

In the following we need calculate $\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}}$. Applying the Comparison Principle for ρ and Sobolev Lemma we have

$$\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\rho\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim 1 + \|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\|_{s}$$
 (3.107)

Calculating $\|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\|_s$, with $\|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\|_s = \sup_{\|\varphi\|_s = 1} |\langle \tilde{\rho} - \rho, \varphi \rangle_s|$ In the analysis of weak convergence of sequence ρ_μ we saw

$$|\langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t), \varphi \rangle_{s}| \leq \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\|_{s} \|\varphi - \varphi_{\epsilon}\|_{s} + \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\| \|\varphi_{\epsilon}\|_{2s}$$

$$\leq 2M\epsilon + \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\| \|\varphi_{\epsilon}\|_{2s}$$
(3.108)

Applying limit as $\nu \to 0$ in (3.108)

$$\left| \langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho(t), \varphi \rangle_{s} \right| \le 2M\epsilon + \|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho(t)\| \|\varphi_{\epsilon}\|_{2s} \tag{3.109}$$

Considering that $\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho_{\nu}(t)\| \leq 2M\sqrt{n\tilde{T}_s|\mu - \nu|}e^{\tilde{T}_sL_0(M,M)}$ and applying limit as $\nu \to 0$

$$\|\rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho(t)\| \le 2M\sqrt{n\,\tilde{T}_{s\,\mu}}\,e^{\tilde{T}_{s}L_{0}(M,M)} = \widetilde{C}(n,M,\tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}$$
 (3.110)

Substituting (3.110) in (3.109) and considering that $\|\varphi_{\epsilon}\|_{2s} \leq \epsilon^{-s} \|\varphi\|_{s}$ with φ_{ϵ} constructed as in [21, Lemma 2.6, pg 900], yields

$$|\langle \rho_{\mu}(t) - \rho(t), \varphi \rangle_{s}| \leq 2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(n, M, \widetilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu} \,\epsilon^{-s} \|\varphi\|_{s}$$
(3.111)

Then

$$\|\tilde{\rho} - \rho\|_{s} = \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{s}=1} |\langle \tilde{\rho} - \rho, \varphi \rangle_{s}| \le 2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}$$
 (3.112)

and

$$\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim 1 + 2M\epsilon + \tilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_s)\sqrt{\mu}\,\epsilon^{-s}, \forall \epsilon > 0$$
 (3.113)

Let $r(\tau) = \tau^{2k}$ a non-decreasing function, it follows that:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s^2 \lesssim r(1 + 2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_s)\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}) \|\tilde{\rho}\|_s^2$$
(3.114)

Integrating from 0 to t in (3.114)

$$\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}^{2} \lesssim \|\rho_{0}\|_{s}^{2} + r(1 + 2M\epsilon + \tilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}) \int_{0}^{t} \|\tilde{\rho}(\tau)\|_{s}^{2} d\tau$$
 (3.115)

From Gronwalls inequality in (3.115), follows a priori-estimate in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$; $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$

$$\|\tilde{\rho}\|_{s}^{2} \lesssim \|\rho_{0}\|_{s}^{2} e^{r\left(1+2M\epsilon+\tilde{C}(n,M,\tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}\right)\tilde{T}_{s}}, \ \forall \tilde{T}_{s} > 0, \ \forall \epsilon > 0$$
 (3.116)

Finally, applying [49, Theo. 1, pg 120] in (3.116) we obtain the final estimate

$$\|\rho(t)\|_{s}^{2} \leq \liminf_{\mu \to 0} \|\rho_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\mu \to 0} \|\rho_{0}\|_{s}^{2} e^{r\left(1 + 2M\epsilon + \tilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}\right)\tilde{T}_{s}}$$

$$= \lim_{\mu \to 0} \|\rho_{0}\|_{s}^{2} e^{r\left(1 + 2M\epsilon + \tilde{C}(n, M, \tilde{T}_{s})\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}\right)\tilde{T}_{s}}$$

$$= \|\rho_{0}\|_{s}^{2} e^{r(1 + 2M\epsilon)\tilde{T}_{s}} \,\forall \epsilon > 0$$
(3.117)

Therefore, applying limit as ϵ tends to zero, follows the final estimate

$$\|\rho(t)\|_s^2 \le \|\rho_0\|_s^2 e^{\tilde{T}_s}, \ \forall t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
 (3.118)

Chapter 4

BFE with Bore-Like Initial Conditions

4.1 Local Theory with Parabolic Regularization

4.1.1 Auxiliar problem for the BFE

In this section we will describe how to deal with certain types of initial data that do not belong to a Sobolev Space. More precisely, we will consider the Cauchy problem for the Brinkman Flow equation with bore-like data and $P(\rho) = \rho^2$, that is:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho = \partial_x \left(\rho (1 - \Delta)^{-1} \partial_x \rho^2 \right), x \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \in I = (0, T_0] \\ \rho(x, 0) = \rho_0(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

where $\rho_0 : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ satisfies the following conditions:

(BL1)
$$\rho_0(x) \longrightarrow C_{\pm} \text{ as } x \to \pm \text{ where } C_- > C_+ \ge 0.$$

(BL2)
$$\rho'_0(x) \in H^s(\mathbb{R})$$
, for some $r \geq 0$

(BL3)
$$\rho_0(x) - C_- \in L^2((-\infty, 0]) \text{ and } \rho_0(x) - C_+ \in L^2([0, +\infty))$$

Note that a function ρ_0 with these conditions is necessarily bounded. The real reason for introducing conditions (BL1)-(BL3) is that they model certain

travelling waves that occur in nature. For more information on bores we refer the reader to [6],[19],[20] and references therein.

The problem with bores is that $\|\rho_0\| = \infty$, and Sobolev Space methods, in principle, cannot be applied. Consider the following lemma.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let ρ_0 satisfy conditions (BL1) and (BL2). Then for each $\tau \in (0, \infty)$ there exists a $\psi_{\tau} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\psi'_{\tau} \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and $\phi_{\tau} = \rho_0 - \psi_{\tau} \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{R})$, $s \geq 0$. Moreover

$$\|\rho_0 - \psi_\tau\| \le \left(\frac{2\tau}{e}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\rho_0'\| \qquad \|\psi_\tau'\|_s \le C(s,\tau) \|\rho_0'\|$$
 (4.2)

Finally, if ρ_0 satisfies (BL3) then ψ_{τ} also has this property and $\lim_{x\to\pm\infty}\psi_{\tau}=C_{\pm}$.

Proof. See [19],[20],[21].
$$\Box$$

Let τ be fixed, and write $\psi_{\tau} = \psi$ for simplicity. It is then natural to define $\rho(x,t) = w(x,t) + \psi(x)$, and study the auxiliary initial value problem associated to w(x,t), namely:

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t w = \partial_x (w J^{-2} \partial_x w^2) + E(w, \psi) \in H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}), & x \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \in I = (0, T_0] \\
w(x, 0) = \rho_0(x) - \psi(x) = \phi(x) \in H^s(\mathbb{R}); \ s \ge 1
\end{cases}$$
(4.3)

where

$$E(w,\psi) = \partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2) + \partial_x (w J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2) + \partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x w^2)$$

$$+ 2 \partial_x (w J^{-2} \partial_x (w \psi)) + 2 \partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x (w \psi))$$

$$(4.4)$$

This is the problem that we will study. Observe that the PDE in (4.3), is a perturbation of (BFE) with five extra terms. We will employ parabolic regularization to show that (4.3) is locally well posed if $s > \frac{3}{2}$.

4.1.2 Parabolic Regularization for the auxiliary problem

In order to solve (4.3), locally in time, we will introduce an artificial viscosity μ , solve the regularized problem and then take limits as the viscosity tends to zero. A little more precisely, we consider Cauchy problem.

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t w_{\mu} = \mu \partial_x^2 w_{\mu} + \tilde{E}(w_{\mu}, \psi) \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}), & x \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \in I = (0, T_0] \\ w_{\mu}(x, 0) = \phi(x) \in H^s(\mathbb{R}); \ s \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

where

$$\tilde{E}(w_{\mu}, \psi) = \partial_x \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x w_{\mu}^2 \right) + E(w_{\mu}, \psi) \tag{4.6}$$

Using the method of variation of parameters we can show that (4.5) is equivalent to the integral equation:

$$w_{\mu}(t) = U_{\mu}(t)\phi + \int_{0}^{t} U_{\mu}(t - t')\tilde{E}(w_{\mu}(t'), \psi) dt'$$
(4.7)

This equivalence is in fact rigorous in view of lemma 3.1.2 which asserts that $t \longrightarrow U_{\mu}(t) = e^{\mu t \partial_x^2}$, the semigroup generated by $\mu \partial_x^2$, is infinitely smoothing. Its necessary to prove a result analogous to Lemma 3.1.1 in order to show the properties of the nonlinear part $\tilde{E}(w, \psi)$

Lemma 4.1.2. Let $s > \frac{3}{2}$ be fixed. Then $\tilde{E}(w, \psi)$ is a continuous map from H^s to H^{s-1} and satisfies the estimates

$$\|\tilde{E}(w,\psi) - \tilde{E}(\tilde{w},\psi)\|_{s-1} \le \beta(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s \tag{4.8}$$

$$\langle w - \tilde{w}, \tilde{E}(w, \psi) - \tilde{E}(\tilde{w}, \psi) \rangle \le Q_0(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) \|w - \tilde{w}\|^2$$
 (4.9)

for all $w, \tilde{w} \in H^s$, where $\beta, Q_0 : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ are continuous functions, monotone nondecreasing with respect to each of their arguments.

Proof. We have

$$\|\tilde{E}(w,\psi) - \tilde{E}(\tilde{w},\psi)\|_{s-1} \leq \underbrace{\|\partial_{x}(wJ^{-2}\partial_{x}w^{2}) - \partial_{x}(\tilde{w}J^{-2}\partial_{x}\tilde{w}^{2})\|_{s-1}}_{=A} + \underbrace{\|\partial_{x}((w-\tilde{w})J^{-2}\partial_{x}\psi^{2})\|_{s-1}}_{=B} + \underbrace{\|\partial_{x}(\psiJ^{-2}\partial_{x}(w^{2}-\tilde{w}^{2}))\|_{s-1}}_{=C} + 2\underbrace{\|\partial_{x}(\psiJ^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi(w-\tilde{w})))\|_{s-1}}_{=D} + 2\underbrace{\|\partial_{x}(wJ^{-2}\partial_{x}(w\psi)) - \partial_{x}(\tilde{w}J^{-2}\partial_{x}(\tilde{w}\psi))\|_{s-1}}_{=E}$$

$$(4.10)$$

The first term (A), is exactly the nonlinear part of the (BFE), and that estimate was made in the Chapter 3, in n-dimensional case, that is

$$A \lesssim (\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s)^2 \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s \tag{4.11}$$

Since H^s , $s > \frac{3}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$ is a Banach algebra, using the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, $\|J^{-2}\|_{B(H^s,H^{s+2})} \le 1$, $\|J^{-2}\partial_x\|_{B(H^s,H^{s+1})} \le 1$, Lemma A.1.7 and Corollary A.1.2 in Appendix, we have

$$B = 2 \|\partial_x ((w - \tilde{w})J^{-2}(\psi\psi'))\|_{s-1} \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s \|J^{-2}(\psi\psi')\|_s$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s \|J^{-2}(\psi\psi')\|_{s+2} \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s \|J^{-2}\|_{B(H^s, H^{s+2})} \|\psi\psi'\|_s$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)^2 \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s$$
(4.12)

$$C \leq \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_x (w^2 - \tilde{w}^2)\|_s \lesssim \|J^{-2} \partial_x (w^2 - \tilde{w}^2)\|_s (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)$$

$$\lesssim \|J^{-2} \partial_x \|_{B(H^s, H^{s+1})} \|w^2 - \tilde{w}^2\|_s (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)$$

$$\lesssim (\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s) (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s) \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s$$

$$(4.13)$$

$$D \leq \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_x (\psi(w - \tilde{w}))\|_s \lesssim \|J^{-2} \partial_x (\psi(w - \tilde{w}))\|_s (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)$$

$$\lesssim \|J^{-2} \partial_x \|_{B(H^s, H^{s+1})} \|\psi(w - \tilde{w})\|_s (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)^2 \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s$$
(4.14)

$$E \leq \|\partial_{x} (wJ^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi(w-\tilde{w})))\|_{s-1} + \|\partial_{x} ((w-\tilde{w})J^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi\tilde{w}))\|_{s-1}$$

$$\leq \|wJ^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi(w-\tilde{w}))\|_{s} + \|(w-\tilde{w})J^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi\tilde{w})\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim \|w\|_{s}\|J^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi(w-\tilde{w}))\|_{s} + \|w-\tilde{w}\|_{s}\|J^{-2}\partial_{x}(\psi\tilde{w})\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim \|w\|_{s}\|J^{-2}\partial_{x}\|_{B(H^{s},H^{s+1})}\|\psi(w-\tilde{w})\|_{s} + \|w-\tilde{w}\|_{s}\|J^{-2}\partial_{x}\|_{B(H^{s},H^{s+1})}\|\psi\tilde{w}\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim \|w\|_{s}\|w-\tilde{w}\|_{s}(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) + \|w-\tilde{w}\|_{s}\|\tilde{w}\|_{s}(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})$$

$$\lesssim (\|w\|_{s} + \|\tilde{w}\|_{s})(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})\|w-\tilde{w}\|_{s}$$

Taking

$$\tilde{C}(s,\psi) = \max\{(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2}, (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})\}$$
(4.16)

and substituting (4.11) to (4.15) in (4.10)

$$\|\tilde{E}(w,\psi) - \tilde{E}(w,\psi)\|_{s-1} \le \beta(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) \|w - \tilde{w}\|_s$$
(4.17)

where

$$\beta(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) = (\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s)^2 + 3\tilde{C}(s, \psi)(\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s) + 3\tilde{C}(s, \psi)$$
(4.18)

Finally, we will estimate (4.9)

$$\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \tilde{E}(w, \psi) - \tilde{E}(\tilde{w}, \psi) \right\rangle \\
= \underbrace{\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(wJ^{-2}\partial_{x}w^{2} \right) - \partial_{x} \left(\tilde{w}J^{-2}\partial_{x}\tilde{w}^{2} \right) \right\rangle}_{=I} \\
+ \underbrace{\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(\left(w - \tilde{w} \right)J^{-2}\partial_{x}\psi^{2} \right) \right\rangle}_{=II} + \underbrace{\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2}\partial_{x} \left(w^{2} - \tilde{w}^{2} \right) \right) \right\rangle}_{=III} \\
+ 2\underbrace{\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(wJ^{-2}\partial_{x} \left(w\psi \right) \right) - \partial_{x} \left(\tilde{w}J^{-2}\partial_{x} \left(\tilde{w}\psi \right) \right) \right\rangle}_{=IV} \\
+ 2\underbrace{\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2}\partial_{x} \left(\psi \left(w - \tilde{w} \right) \right) \right) \right\rangle}_{=V} (4.19)$$

The first term in (4.19) was estimated in Chapter 3, by

$$I \leq (\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s)^2 \|w - \tilde{w}\|^2 \tag{4.20}$$

Integration by parts, Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, Sobolev Lemma, Lemma A.1.7, Corollary A.1.2 in Appendix, $||J^{-2}\partial_x||_{B(H^s,H^{s+1})} \leq 1$ and $||J^{-2}\partial_x^2||_{B(H^s)} \leq 1$ leads the other following estimates in (4.19)

$$II = 2 \left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left((w - \tilde{w}) J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right) \right\rangle$$

$$= -2 \left\langle (w - \tilde{w}) J^{-2} (\psi \psi'), \partial_{x} (w - \tilde{w}) \right\rangle$$

$$= -\left\langle \partial_{x} (w - \tilde{w})^{2}, J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right\rangle = \left\langle (w - \tilde{w})^{2}, J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi') \right\rangle$$

$$\leq \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{s+1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} \|_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+1})} \|\psi \psi'\|_{s} \lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2}$$

$$III \leq \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|\partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w^{2} - \tilde{w}^{2})) \|$$

$$\leq \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w^{2} - \tilde{w}^{2}) \|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w^{2} - \tilde{w}^{2}) \|_{1} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1})$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} \|_{B(L^{2}, H^{1})} \|(w - \tilde{w}) (w + \tilde{w}) \|(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1})$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \|w + \tilde{w}\|_{L^{\infty}} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1})$$

$$\lesssim (\|w\|_{s} + \|\tilde{w}\|_{s}) (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2}$$

$$IV = \left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(w J^{-2} \partial_{x} ((w - \tilde{w}) \psi) \right) \right\rangle \\ + \left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left((w - \tilde{w}) J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\tilde{w} \psi) \right) \right) \right\rangle \\ = \left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \partial_{x} \left(w J^{-2} \partial_{x} ((w - \tilde{w}) \psi) \right) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (w - \tilde{w})^{2}, J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (\tilde{w} \psi) \right\rangle \\ \leq \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|\partial_{x} \left(w J^{-2} \partial_{x} ((w - \tilde{w}) \psi) \right) \|_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (\tilde{w} \psi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \\ \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|w J^{-2} \partial_{x} ((w - \tilde{w}) \psi)\|_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (\tilde{w} \psi)\|_{s} \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \\ \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|w\|_{1} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} ((w - \tilde{w}) \psi)\|_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2}\|_{B(H^{s})} \|\tilde{w} \psi\|_{s} \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \\ \lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \|w\|_{s} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}\|_{B(L^{2}, H^{1})} \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{w}\|_{s} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} \\ \lesssim (\|w\|_{s} + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{w}\|_{s}) (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2}$$

$$(4.23)$$

$$V \leq \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|\partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi(w - \tilde{w})) \|$$

$$\leq \|w - \tilde{w}\| \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi(w - \tilde{w})) \|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1}) \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi(w - \tilde{w})) \|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\| (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1}) \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}\|_{B(L^{2}, H^{1})} \|\psi(w - \tilde{w})\|$$

$$\lesssim \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1}) \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} \|w - \tilde{w}\|^{2}$$

$$(4.24)$$

Then, substituting (4.20)-(4.24) in (4.19), follows the result, i.e.,

$$\left\langle w - \tilde{w}, \tilde{E}(w, \psi) - \tilde{E}(\tilde{w}, \psi) \right\rangle \le Q_0(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) \|w - \tilde{w}\|^2$$
 (4.25)

where

$$Q_0(\|w\|_s, \|\tilde{w}\|_s, \psi) = (\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s)^2 + 3\tilde{C}(s, \psi)(\|w\|_s + \|\tilde{w}\|_s) + 3\tilde{C}(s, \psi)$$
(4.26)
This finishes the proof.

Now, introducing the complete metric space

$$X_s(T_0) = \left\{ v \in C([0, T_0], H^s(\mathbb{R})) : \left\| v(t) - U_\mu(t)\phi \right\| \le M, \ \forall t \in [0, T_0] \right\}$$
(4.27)

and the mapping

$$B(v(t)) = U_{\mu}(t)\phi + \int_{0}^{t} U_{\mu}(t - t')\tilde{E}(v(t'), \psi) dt'$$
 (4.28)

and combining these definitions with lemmas 3.1.2 and 4.1.2 a), it is not difficult to prove the following Theorem.

Theorem 4.1.1. Let $\mu > 0$ be fixed and $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R})$, $s \ge 1$. Then there exists $T^{\mu} = T(s, \|\phi\|_s, \mu) > 0$ and a unique solution w_{μ} of IVP (4.5) satisfying

$$w_{\mu} \in C([0, T^{\mu}], H^{s}(\mathbb{R})) \cap C((0, T^{\mu}], H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}))$$

Proof. It is similar to the proof of theorem 3.1.2 in section 3.1.1

The next step is to study the limit $w = \lim_{\mu \to 0} w_{\mu}$. First we must show that w_{μ} can be extended to an interval of time independent of μ .

Lemma 4.1.3. Let $s > \frac{3}{2}$ and $w_{\mu} \in C([0, T^{\mu}], H^{s}(\mathbb{R}))$ be the solution of the IVP (4.5) with $\mu > 0$. Then $w_{\mu}(t)$ can be extended to an interval $[0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$ where $\tilde{T}_{s} = \tilde{T}(s, \|\phi\|_{s})$ is independent of μ . Moreover, there exists $h(t) \in C([0, \tilde{T}_{s}], \mathbb{R})$ such that:

$$||w_{\mu}(t)||_{s}^{2} \le h(t)$$
 $h(0) = ||\phi||_{s}^{2}$ (4.29)

Proof. Since $w_{\mu}(t) \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, $\forall t \in (0, T^{\mu}]$, we may safely differentiate $||w_{\mu}(t)||_{s}^{2}$ with respect to t to get

$$\partial_t \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_s^2 = 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t), \partial_t w_{\mu}(t) \right\rangle_s$$

$$= 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t), \mu \partial_x^2 w_{\mu}(t) \right\rangle_s + 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t), \tilde{E}(w_{\mu}(t), \psi) \right\rangle_s$$

$$(4.30)$$

Since $H_0 = -\partial_x^2$ is a self-adjoint and positive operator in H^s we have

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}(t), \mu \partial_x^2 w_{\mu}(t) \right\rangle_{s} = -\mu \left\langle w_{\mu}(t), H_0 w_{\mu}(t) \right\rangle_{s} \le 0$$
 (4.31)

Expanding the other term

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}, \tilde{E}(w_{\mu}, \psi) \right\rangle_{s} = \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} \psi^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s}
+ \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} \psi^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s}
+ \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \right\rangle_{s}$$
(4.32)

We now estimate each term in (4.32):

The first term in $\tilde{E}(w_{\mu}, \psi)$ is the similar to the case treated in chapter 3, where we know that:

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}(t), \partial_x \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x w_{\mu}^2 \right) \right\rangle_s \lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|_s^4$$
 (4.33)

Using Cauchy Schwartz inequality, Lemmas A.1.5, A.1.7, any operators estimates and Corollary A.1.2 we will estimate the others terms

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} \psi^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} \leq 2 \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right) \right\rangle_{s} \right|
\leq 2 \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|\partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right) \|_{s} \leq 2 \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|\psi J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \|_{s+1}
\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|J^{-2} (\psi \psi')\|_{s+1} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})
\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|J^{-2}\|_{B(H^{s}, H^{s+2})} \|\psi \psi'\|_{s} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})
\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})
\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})^{3} \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}$$

$$(4.34)$$

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} \psi^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} = 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right) \right\rangle_{s}$$

$$= 2 \left[\left\langle w_{\mu}, (\partial_{x} w_{\mu}) J^{-2} (\psi \psi') \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle w_{\mu}, (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi') \right\rangle_{s} \right]$$

$$\lesssim \left| \left\langle J^{-2} (\psi \psi') (\partial_{x} w_{\mu}), w_{\mu} \right\rangle_{s} \right| + \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi') \right\rangle_{s} \right|$$

$$\lesssim 2c \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{s-1} \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}^{2} + \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{s}$$

$$\lesssim \|\psi \psi'\|_{s} \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}^{2}$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}^{2}$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}^{2}$$

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} \leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \right) \right\rangle_{s} \right|
\leq \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|\partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \right) \|_{s} \leq \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \|_{s+1}
\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|_{s} \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}\|_{s+1} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})
\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1}) \|w_{\mu}\|_{s}^{3}$$
(4.36)

$$\left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \right\rangle_{s}
= \left\langle w_{\mu}, (\partial_{x} w_{\mu}) J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right\rangle_{s} + \left\langle w_{\mu}, w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right\rangle_{s}
\leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, (\partial_{x} w_{\mu}) J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right\rangle_{s} \right| + \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right\rangle_{s} \right|
\leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu} \psi \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} \|_{s}^{2} + \| w_{\mu} \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) \|_{s}
\leq \left\| w_{\mu} \psi \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} \|_{s}^{2} + \| w_{\mu} \|_{s}^{2} \| J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) \|_{s}
\leq \left\| w_{\mu} \psi \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} \|_{s}^{2}
\leq \left(\| \psi \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| \psi' \|_{s} \right) \| w_{\mu} \|_{s}^{3}
\left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \right\rangle_{s} \leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \right\rangle_{s} \right|
\leq \| w_{\mu} \|_{s} \| \partial_{x} \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) \|_{s+1}
\leq \| w_{\mu} \|_{s} \| J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \|_{s+1} (\| \psi \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| \psi' \|_{s+1})
\leq \| w_{\mu} \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} \psi \|_{s} (\| \psi \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| \psi' \|_{s+1})
\leq \| w_{\mu} \|_{s} \| w_{\mu} \psi \|_{s} (\| \psi \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| \psi' \|_{s+1})^{2}$$
(4.38)

Substituting (4.31),(4.33)-(4.38) in (4.30) we have:

$$\partial_{t} \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} \lesssim \widetilde{K}(s, \psi) \Big(\|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{4} + \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{3} + \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} + \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s} \Big)$$

$$= \widetilde{K}(s, \psi) \Big((\|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{2} + (\|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}} + \|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2} + (\|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big)$$

$$= G(\|w_{\mu}(t)\|_{s}^{2})$$

with

$$\widetilde{K}(s,\psi) = \max\{6K(s,\psi), 2\}$$

and

$$K(s,\psi) = \max\{(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})^3, \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})^2, (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+1})\}$$
(4.40)

Considering h = h(t) maximal solution for:

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t h(t) = G(h(t)) = \widetilde{K} \left[h^2 + h^{\frac{3}{2}} + h + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \right], \ t \in (0, T^*) \\
h(0) = \|\phi\|_s^2
\end{cases}$$
(4.41)

Then for $\tilde{T}_s \in [0, T^*)$, we have:

$$||w_{\mu}(t)||_{s}^{2} \le h(t), \ t \in [0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$$
 (4.42)

Since h(t) does not depend on μ , it follows that all solutions can be extended to some interval $[0, \tilde{T}_s]$ with $\tilde{T}_s < T^*$, where T^* is the maximal time of the solution h(t).

Now we are ready to establish the following result:

Theorem 4.1.2. Let $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R})$, $s > \frac{3}{2}$. Then there exists $\tilde{T}_s = T(s, \|\phi\|_s)$ and a unique $w \in C_+([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R})) \cap C_+^1([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}))$ that solves the PDE in (4.3) and satisfies

$$||w(t)||_s^2 \le h(t), \ t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s]$$
 (4.43)

Proof. Let $\mu > 0, \nu > 0$ and w_{μ}, w_{ν} solutions obtained in Theorem 4.1.1, with the same initial condition.

In the following we will prove that $\{w_{\mu}\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ space.

Estimating $\partial_t ||w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)||^2$

$$\partial_{t} \|w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)\|^{2} = 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t), \partial_{t}(w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)) \right\rangle$$

$$= 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t), \mu \partial_{x}^{2} w_{\mu}(t) - \nu \partial_{x}^{2} w_{\nu}(t) \right\rangle$$

$$+ 2 \left\langle w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t), \tilde{E}(w_{\mu}(t), \psi) - \tilde{E}(w_{\nu}(t), \psi) \right\rangle$$
(4.44)

The first in (4.44) is similar to the case treated in chapter 3, where we know that:

$$\left\langle w_{\mu} - w_{\nu}, \mu \partial_x^2 w_{\mu} - \nu \partial_x^2 w_{\nu} \right\rangle \le 2M^2 |\mu - \nu| \tag{4.45}$$

and the second term was estimated in Lemma 4.1.2 Therefore substituting (4.45), (4.9), in (4.44) we have

$$\partial_t \|w_\mu(t) - w_\nu(t)\|^2 \le 4M^2 |\mu - \nu| + 2Q_0(M, M, \psi) \|w_\mu(t) - w_\nu(t)\|^2$$
 (4.46)

Integrating (4.46) from 0 to t

$$||w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)||^{2} \le 4M^{2}|\mu - \nu|t + \int_{0}^{t} 2Q_{0}(M, M, \psi)||w_{\mu}(\tau) - w_{\nu}(\tau)||^{2} d\tau$$

$$(4.47)$$

Applying Gronwall's Inequality in (4.47)

$$||w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)||^{2} \leq 4M^{2}\tilde{T}_{s}|\mu - \nu| e^{\int_{0}^{t} 2Q_{0}(M,M,\psi) d\tau}$$

$$\leq 4M^{2}\tilde{T}_{s}|\mu - \nu| e^{2Q_{0}(M,M,\psi)\tilde{T}}, \ t \in (0,\tilde{T}_{s})$$
(4.48)

Applying limit as $\mu \to 0, \nu \to 0$

$$\lim_{\mu \to 0, \nu \to 0} \|w_{\mu}(t) - w_{\nu}(t)\|^{2} = 0, ie, \rho_{\mu}(t) \xrightarrow{L^{2}} \rho_{\nu}(t) t \in [0, \tilde{T}_{s}]$$
(4.49)

Thus, $\{w_{\mu}(t)\}_{\mu>0}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, that is complete. Therefore, there exists $w(t) \in C([0, \tilde{T}_s], L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ that satisfies

$$\lim_{\mu \to 0} \sup_{[0,\tilde{T}_s]} \|w_{\mu}(t) - w(t)\| = 0$$

Thus $t \in [0, \tilde{T}_s] \to w_{\mu}(t)$ is continuous and uniformly bounded in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The remainder of the proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.1.3

Once this is done, the next corollary follows

Corollary 4.1.1. Let w be the solution of IVP (4.3) given in Theorem 4.1.2. Then $\rho = w + \psi$ is the unique solution of IVP (4.1) satisfying $\rho - \psi \in C_+([0, \tilde{T}_s], H^s(\mathbb{R})), s > \frac{3}{2}$.

4.2 L^2 -Global Estimate

Theorem 4.2.1. Let $s > \frac{3}{2}$, $P(\rho) = \rho^2$, $F \equiv 0$ and the initial Bore-Like condition ρ_0 with $0 \le \rho_0(x) \le 1$. Then, the solution ρ is globally well-posed in the sense that: $0 \le \rho(x,t) \le 1$ and $\rho - \psi \in C([0,T],L^2)$, $\forall T > 0$.

Proof. As a immediate consequence of the Comparison Principle, we have that $0 \le \rho(x) \le 1$

Consider the regularized auxiliary Brinkman Flow equation

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t w_\mu = \mu \partial_x^2 w_\mu + \partial_x \left(w_\mu J^{-2} \partial_x w_\mu^2 \right) + E(w_\mu, \psi) \in H^{s-1}(\mathbb{R}), & x \in \mathbb{R} \\
w_\mu(x, 0) = \rho_0(x) - \psi(x) = \phi(x) \in H^s(\mathbb{R}); & s \ge 1
\end{cases}$$
(4.50)

where

$$E(w_{\mu}, \psi) = \partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2) + \partial_x (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2) + \partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x w_{\mu}^2)$$

$$+ 2\partial_x (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x (w_{\mu} \psi)) + 2\partial_x (\psi J^{-2} \partial_x (w_{\mu} \psi))$$

$$(4.51)$$

Multiplying the equation by w_{μ} and integrating over \mathbb{R}

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_t \int w_\mu^2 dx = I1 + I2 + I3 + I4 + I5 + I6 + I7 \tag{4.52}$$

where

$$I1 = \mu \int w_{\mu} \partial_x^2 w_{\mu} \, dx, \quad I2 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x w_{\mu}^2 \right) dx$$
$$I3 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2 \right) dx, \quad I4 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x \psi^2 \right) dx$$
$$I5 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_x w_{\mu}^2 \right) dx, \quad I6 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_x (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) dx$$

and

$$I7 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_x \left(\psi J^{-2} \partial_x (w_{\mu} \psi) \right) dx$$

In what follows we estimate each integral:

Since $H_0 = -\partial_x^2$ is a self-adjoint and positive operator, we have

$$I1 = \mu \langle w_{\mu}, -H_0 w_{\mu} \rangle = -\mu \langle H_0 w_{\mu}, w_{\mu} \rangle \le 0 \tag{4.53}$$

Integrating by parts the second integral

$$I2 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}) dx = -\frac{1}{2} \int \partial_{x} (w_{\mu}^{2}) J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu}^{2})$$

$$= -\frac{\|\partial_{x} (w_{\mu}^{2})\|_{-1}}{2} \le 0$$
(4.54)

Using the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, Lemma A.1.7, Corollary A.1.2 in appendix, and that $||J^{-2}||_{B(H^s,H^{s+2})} \leq 1$, we have

$$I3 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2}(\psi \psi')) dx \leq 2 |\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2}(\psi \psi')) \rangle|$$

$$\leq 2 ||w_{\mu}|| ||\partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2}(\psi \psi'))|_{s+1} \leq 2 ||w_{\mu}|| ||\psi J^{-2}(\psi \psi')|_{s+2}$$

$$\lesssim 2 ||w_{\mu}|| ||J^{-2}(\psi \psi')|_{s+2} (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2}) \lesssim 2 ||w_{\mu}|| ||\psi \psi'||_{s} (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})$$

$$\lesssim 2 ||w_{\mu}|| (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s})^{2} (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})$$

$$\lesssim (1 + ||w_{\mu}||^{2}) (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3}$$

$$\lesssim (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} + (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} ||w_{\mu}||^{2}$$

$$(4.55)$$

Combining integration by parts, Sobolev's Lemma ([1]), Corollary A.1.2 in appendix A and the fact that $||J^{-2}\partial_x||_{B(H^s,H^{s+1})} \leq 1$, we obtain

$$I4 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')) dx = - \int \partial_{x} (w_{\mu}^{2}) J^{-2} (\psi \psi') dx \qquad (4.56)$$

$$= \int w_{\mu}^{2} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi') dx \leq \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w_{\mu}\|^{2}$$

$$\lesssim \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (\psi \psi')\|_{s+1} \|w_{\mu}\|^{2} \lesssim \|\psi \psi'\|_{s} \|w_{\mu}\|^{2}$$

$$\lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} \|w_{\mu}\|^{2}$$

Applying Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, $||J^{-2}\partial_x||_{B(L^2,H^1)} \le 1$ and Lemma A.1.7, it follows that

$$I5 = \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}) dx \leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}) \right\rangle \right|$$

$$\leq \|w_{\mu}\| \|\partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}) \| \leq \|w_{\mu}\| \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2} \|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\| \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} w_{\mu}^{2}\|_{1} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1}) \lesssim \|w_{\mu}\| \|w_{\mu}^{2}\| (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})$$

$$\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|^{2} \|w_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})$$

$$(4.57)$$

Using integration by parts, $||J^{-2}\partial_x^2||_{B(L^2)} \le 1$ and Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, we have

$$I6 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi)) dx = - \int \partial_{x} (w_{\mu}^{2}) J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) dx \qquad (4.58)$$

$$= \int w_{\mu}^{2} J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) dx \leq \left| \left\langle w_{\mu}^{2}, J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi) \right\rangle \right|$$

$$\leq \|w_{\mu}^{2}\| \|J^{-2} \partial_{x}^{2} (w_{\mu} \psi)\| \leq \|w_{\mu}\| \|w_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w_{\mu} \psi\|$$

$$\leq \|w_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w_{\mu}\|^{2}$$

In the last integral, we used the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, $||J^{-2}\partial_x||_{B(L^2,H^1)} \le 1$ and Lemma A.1.7.

$$I7 = 2 \int w_{\mu} \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi)) dx \leq 2 \left| \langle w_{\mu}, \partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi)) \rangle \right|$$

$$\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\| \|\partial_{x} (\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi)) \| \leq \|w_{\mu}\| \|\psi J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \|_{1}$$

$$\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\| \|J^{-2} \partial_{x} (w_{\mu} \psi) \|_{1} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{1}) \lesssim \|w_{\mu}\| \|w_{\mu} \psi\| (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})$$

$$\lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|^{2} \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \lesssim \|w_{\mu}\|^{2} (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2}$$

$$(4.59)$$

In estimates I5 and I6, we need to estimate $||w_{\mu}||_{L^{\infty}}$. The Comparison Principle for ρ implies that

$$||w_{\mu}||_{L^{\infty}} \leq ||w_{\mu} - w||_{L^{\infty}} + ||w||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim ||w_{\mu} - w||_{s} + ||\rho - \psi||_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\lesssim ||w_{\mu} - w||_{s} + ||\rho||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim 1 + ||w_{\mu} - w||_{s} + ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$(4.60)$$

In order, to estimate $||w_{\mu} - w||_s$, we use arguments similar to those employed in the proof of H^s - global estimates of Brinkman Equation, in section 3.3. We have,

$$||w_{\mu} - w||_{s} \le 2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \widetilde{T}_{s}, \psi)\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s}$$

$$(4.61)$$

where

$$\widetilde{C}(M,\widetilde{T}_s,\psi) = 2\,M\sqrt{\widetilde{T}_s}\,e^{Q_0(M,M,\psi)\widetilde{T}_s}$$

Then

$$\|w_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \widetilde{T}_s, \psi)\sqrt{\mu}\,\epsilon^{-s} + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
 (4.62)

Substituting (4.62) in I5, I6

$$I5 \lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \left[2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \widetilde{T}_{s}, \psi)\sqrt{\mu} \,\epsilon^{-s} + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}\right] \|w_{\mu}\|^{2} \tag{4.63}$$

$$I6 \le \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \left[2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \widetilde{T}_s, \psi) \sqrt{\mu} \, \epsilon^{-s} + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \right] \|w_{\mu}\|^2 \tag{4.64}$$

On the other hand, substituting (4.53),(4.54),(4.55),(4.56),(4.63),(4.64) and (4.59) in (4.52), we have

$$\partial_t \|w_\mu\|^2 \lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^\infty} + \|\psi'\|_{s+2})^3 + G(\psi, M, \tilde{T}_s, \mu, \epsilon) \|w_\mu\|^2 \tag{4.65}$$

where

$$G(\psi, M, \tilde{T}_s, \mu, \epsilon) = (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+2})^3 + 2(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^2 + (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \left[2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \tilde{T}_s, \psi)\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s} + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}\right] + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \left[2M\epsilon + \widetilde{C}(M, \tilde{T}_s, \psi)\sqrt{\mu}\epsilon^{-s} + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}\right]$$
(4.66)

Integrating (4.65) from 0 to t

$$||w_{\mu}(t)||^{2} \leq \left(||\phi||^{2} + (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} \tilde{T}_{s}\right) + G(\psi, M, \tilde{T}_{s}, \mu, \epsilon) \int_{0}^{t} ||w_{\mu}(\tau)||^{2} d\tau$$

$$(4.67)$$

Gronwall's Inequality in (4.67) implies

$$||w_{\mu}(t)||^{2} \leq \left(||\phi||^{2} + (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} \tilde{T}_{s}\right) e^{G(\psi, M, \tilde{T}_{s}, \mu, \epsilon)\tilde{T}_{s}}, \ \forall \epsilon > 0 \quad (4.68)$$

Therefore, as we know that the sequence w_{μ} converges strongly in L^2 , we may apply limit as μ tends to zero, in (4.68). Then, it follows that

$$||w(t)||^{2} \le \left(||\phi||^{2} + (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} \tilde{T}_{s}\right) e^{\tilde{G}(\psi, M, \epsilon)\tilde{T}_{s}}, \ \forall \, \epsilon > 0$$
 (4.69)

with

$$\widetilde{G}(\psi, M, \epsilon) = (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+2})^{3} + 2(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2} + (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) [2M\epsilon + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}] + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} [2M\epsilon + 1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}]$$

$$(4.70)$$

As ϵ is sufficiently small, we take the limit as $\epsilon \to 0$ to get

$$||w(t)||^{2} \le \left(||\phi||^{2} + (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s+2})^{3} \tilde{T}_{s}\right) e^{K(\psi)\tilde{T}_{s}}$$

$$(4.71)$$

where

$$K(\psi) = (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+2})^3 + 2(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s)^2 + (2\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_s) [1 + \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}}]$$
(4.72)

Finally, the L^2 global estimate for $\rho - \psi$ follows

$$\|\rho - \psi\|^{2} \le \left(\|\rho_{0} - \psi\|^{2} + (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s+2})^{3} \tilde{T}_{s}\right) e^{K(\psi)\tilde{T}_{s}}$$

$$(4.73)$$

Appendix A

Appendix

A.1 Some inequalities

In what follows we consider some inequalities. In most cases these functions are assumed to be in $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$, but the resulting inequalities may be extended as usual to more general functions by continuity. In addition to the Sobolev norm $\| \bullet \|_s$, we occasionally use the Sobolev seminorm $\| \bullet \|_{[s]}$ given by

$$||f||_{[s]}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\xi|^{2s} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 d\xi, \ s > -\frac{n}{2}$$

Lemma A.1.1. Let $J = (1 - \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}, s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$. Then

$$||[J^s, M_f]g|| \le c||\nabla f||_{s-1}||g||_{s-1}$$
 (A.1)

Proof. See [31, Appendix, pág. 122].

Lemma A.1.2. Let $\sigma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n - (0,0))$ satisfy

$$|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \sigma(\xi, \eta)| \le C_{\alpha, \beta} (|\xi| + |\eta|)^{-|\alpha| - |\beta|}$$
(A.2)

for $(\xi, \eta) \neq (0, 0)$ and any $\alpha, \beta \in (\mathbb{Z}^+)^n$ If $\sigma(D)$ denotes the bilinear operator

$$\sigma(D)(f,g)(x) = \iint e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma(\xi,\eta) \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) \, d\xi d\eta \tag{A.3}$$

Then

$$\|\sigma(D)(f,g)\| \le C\|f\|_{L^{\infty}}\|g\|_{L^{p}}, \ p \in (1,\infty)$$
 (A.4)

Proof. See
$$[9, pág. 154]$$
.

Lemma A.1.3. If s > 0 and 1 , then

$$\left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left[\partial_{x_{k}} J^{s}(g \partial_{x_{k}} f) - \partial_{x_{k}} f(\partial_{x_{k}} J^{s} g) \right] \right\|_{L^{p}} \le c \left(\|J^{2} f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|J^{s} g\|_{L^{p}} + \|J^{s+2} f\|_{L^{p}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \right)$$
(A.5)

Remark: In this Lemma we use $[\bullet, \bullet]$ to denote the Euclidean scalar product in \mathbb{R}^n .

Proof. The proof of this Lemma is similar to that of Lemma X1 in [34], is based on the following result due to R.R.Coifman and Y. Meyer (Lemma A.1.2)

Applying the Inversion Fourier Transform, properties of Fourier Transform, Fubini's Theorem and a change of variable, we start from the formula

$$(\partial_{x_k} J^s(g\partial_{x_k} f) - \partial_{x_k} f(\partial_{x_k} J^s g))(x)$$

$$= c \int \left(\partial_{x_k} J^s(g\partial_{x_k} f) - \partial_{x_k} f(\partial_{x_k} J^s g) \right)^{\wedge} (\xi) e^{ix\xi} d\xi$$

$$= c \iint \left[\xi_k \eta_k (1 + |\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} - (\xi_k + \eta_k) (1 + |\xi + \eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \xi_k \right] e^{ix(\xi + \eta)} \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta$$
(A.6)

Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\partial_{x_{k}} J^{s}(g \partial_{x_{k}} f) - \partial_{x_{k}} f(\partial_{x_{k}} J^{s} g) \right)(x)
= c \iint e^{i [x, \xi + \eta]} \left[[\xi, \eta] (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} - [\xi, \xi + \eta] (1 + |\xi + \eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \right] \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta
= -c \iint e^{i [x, \xi + \eta]} \left[[\xi, \xi + \eta] (1 + |\xi + \eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} - [\xi, \eta] (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \right] \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta
= -c \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sigma_{j}(D)(f, g)(x)$$
(A.7)

where

$$\sigma_j(\xi,\eta) = \left\{ \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor (1 + |\xi + \eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} - \lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor (1 + |\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \right\} \Phi_j\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right) \quad (A.8)$$

and the Φ_j are functions on \mathbb{R} with the following properties

$$0 \le \Phi_j \le 1, \quad j = 1, 2, 3,$$

$$\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Phi_3 = 1 \text{ on } [0, \infty),$$

$$\sup \Phi_1 \subset [-1/3, 1/3], \quad \sup \Phi_2 \subset [1/4, 4], \quad \sup \Phi_3 \subset [3, \infty).$$
(A.9)

Step 1 First we consider $\sigma_1(D)(f,g)$. We write

$$\sigma_{1}(\xi,\eta) = \left\{ \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor (1 + |\xi + \eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} - \lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \right\} \Phi_{1} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \right) \tag{A.10}$$

$$= (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \left\{ \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor \left(\frac{1 + |\xi + \eta|^{2}}{1 + |\eta|^{2}} \right)^{\frac{s}{2}} - \lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor \right\} \Phi_{1} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \right)$$

$$= (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \left\{ \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor \left(1 + (1 + |\eta|^{2})^{-1} \lfloor \xi, \xi + 2\eta \rfloor \right)^{\frac{s}{2}} - \lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor \right\} \Phi_{1} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \right)$$

Using the generalized Newton's Binomial Theorem, we have

$$\sigma_1(\xi, \eta) = \sigma_{1,1}(\xi, \eta) + \sigma_{1,2}(\xi, \eta) \tag{A.11}$$

with

$$\sigma_{1,1}(\xi,\eta) = (1+|\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}|\xi|^2 \Phi_1\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
 (A.12)

and

$$\sigma_{1,2}(\xi,\eta) = \left\{ \sum_{r=1}^{n} \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor C_r (1 + |\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2} - r} \lfloor \xi, \xi + 2\eta \rfloor^r \Phi_1 \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \right) \right\}$$
 (A.13)

If we multiply (A.11) by $\hat{f}(\xi)\hat{g}(\eta)$, we obtain

$$\sigma_1(\xi,\eta)\widehat{f}(\xi)\widehat{g}(\eta) = \sigma_{1,1,0}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{J^2f}(\xi)\widehat{J^sg}(\eta) + \Big(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{1,2,r}(\xi,\eta)\Big)\widehat{J^2f}(\xi)\widehat{J^sg}(\eta)$$
(A.14)

where

$$\sigma_{1,1,0}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{|\xi|^2}{1+|\xi|^2} \Phi_1\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
 (A.15)

and

$$\sigma_{1,2,r}(\xi,\eta) = C_r \frac{\lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor}{1 + |\xi|^2} (1 + |\eta|^2)^{-r} \lfloor \xi, \xi + 2\eta \rfloor^r \Phi_1 \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
(A.16)

Thus

$$\sigma_{1}(D)(f,g)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \le \frac{1}{3}} e^{i[x,\xi+\eta]} \sigma_{1}(\xi,\eta) \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta$$

$$= \sigma_{1,1,0}(D)(J^{2}f, J^{s}g)(x) + \sigma_{1,2}(D)(J^{2}f, J^{s}g)(x)$$
(A.17)

with

$$\sigma_{1,1,0}(D)(J^2f, J^sg)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \le \frac{1}{3}} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma_{1,1,0}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{J^2f}(\xi) \widehat{J^sg}(\eta) d\xi d\eta \quad (A.18)$$

and

$$\sigma_{1,2}(D)(J^2f, J^sg)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \le \frac{1}{3}} e^{i\lfloor x, \xi + \eta \rfloor} \Big(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{1,2,r}(\xi, \eta) \Big) \widehat{J^2f}(\xi) \widehat{J^sg}(\eta) \, d\xi d\eta$$
(A.19)

As is easily seen $\sigma_{1,1,0}(\xi,\eta), \sigma_{1,2,r}(\xi,\eta)$ satisfy (A.2). Since the series defined by $\sigma_{1,2}(\xi,\eta)$ converges (due fact that $|\xi| \leq \frac{|\eta|}{3}$ for $\Phi_1 \neq 0$), it follows from estimate (A.3) in Lemma A.1.2 that

$$\|\sigma_1(D)(f,g)\|_{L^p} \le c\|J^2 f\|_{L^\infty} \|J^s g\|_{L^p}$$
(A.20)

Step 2 Next we consider $\sigma_3(D)(f,g)$. Here we write $\sigma_3(\xi,\eta) = \sigma_{3,1}(\xi,\eta) - \sigma_{3,2}(\xi,\eta)$, where

$$\sigma_{3,1}(\xi,\eta) = \left(\lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor (1 + |\xi + \eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} - 1 \right) \Phi_3\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
 (A.21)

and

$$\sigma_{3,2}(\xi,\eta) = \left(\lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor (1 + |\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} - 1 \right) \Phi_3\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
 (A.22)

Now

$$\sigma_{3}(\xi,\eta)\hat{f}(\xi)\hat{g}(\eta) = \sigma_{3,1,1}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{J^{s+2}f}(\xi)\hat{g}(\eta) - \sigma_{3,2,1}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{J^{2}f}(\xi)\widehat{J^{s}g}(\eta)$$

$$+ \sigma_{3,2,2}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{J^{2}f}(\xi)\widehat{J^{s}g}(\eta)$$
(A.23)

with

$$\sigma_{3,1,1}(\xi,\eta) = (1+|\xi|^2)^{-\frac{s+2}{2}} \left(\lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor (1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} - 1 \right) \Phi_3 \left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \right) \quad (A.24)$$

$$\sigma_{3,2,1}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\lfloor \xi,\eta \rfloor}{1+|\xi|^2} \Phi_3\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right) \tag{A.25}$$

$$\sigma_{3,2,2}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{(1+|\eta|^2)^{-\frac{s}{2}}}{1+|\xi|^2} \Phi_3\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
(A.26)

Thus

$$\sigma_{3}(D)(f,g)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \ge 3} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma_{3}(\xi,\eta) \hat{f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta$$

$$= \sigma_{3,1,1}(D)(J^{s+2}f,g)(x) - \sigma_{3,2,1}(D)(J^{2}f,J^{s}g)(x) + \sigma_{3,2,2}(D)(J^{2}f,J^{s}g)(x)$$
(A.27)

where

$$\sigma_{3,1,1}(D)(J^{s+2}f,g)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \ge 3} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma_{3,1,1}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{J^{s+2}f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) \, d\xi d\eta \quad (A.28)$$

$$\sigma_{3,2,1}(D)(J^{2}f, J^{s}g)(x) = \iint_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \ge 3} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma_{3,2,1}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{J^{2}f}(\xi) \widehat{J^{s}g}(\eta) d\xi d\eta \quad (A.29)$$

$$\sigma_{3,2,2}(D)(J^2f,J^sg)(x) = \iint\limits_{\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \ge 3} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta\rfloor} \sigma_{3,2,2}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{J^2f}(\xi) \widehat{J^sg}(\eta) d\xi d\eta \quad (A.30)$$

Since (A.24),(A.25),(A.26) satisfy (A.2) with $|\xi| \geq 3|\eta|$ for $\Phi_3\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right) \neq 0$, we obtain

$$\|\sigma_{3}(D)(f,g)(x)\|_{L^{p}} \le \|\sigma_{3,1,1}(D)(J^{s+2}f,g)(x)\|_{L^{p}} + \|\sigma_{3,2,1}(D)(J^{2}f,J^{s}g)(x)\|_{L^{p}} + \|\sigma_{3,2,2}(D)(J^{2}f,J^{s}g)(x)\|_{L^{p}} \le c\|J^{s+2}f\|_{L^{p}}\|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + c\|J^{2}f\|_{L^{\infty}}\|J^{s}g\|_{L^{p}}$$
(A.31)

Step 3 Estimating $\sigma_2(f,g)(x)$ is more complicated, due to the fact $\xi + \eta$ may vanish in the domain of integration, so that any negative power of $1 + |\xi + \eta|^2$ will not satisfy (A.2)

We write $\sigma_2(\xi,\eta)$ in the form $\sigma_2(\xi,\eta) = \sigma_{2,1}(\xi,\eta) - \sigma_{2,2}(\xi,\eta)$ with

$$\sigma_{2,1}(\xi,\eta) = \lfloor \xi, \xi + \eta \rfloor (1 + |\xi + \eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
 (A.32)

$$\sigma_{2,2}(\xi,\eta) = \lfloor \xi, \eta \rfloor (1 + |\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
(A.33)

The term $\sigma_{2,2}(D)(f,g)$ can be easily handled. Indeed, since

$$\sigma_{2,2}(\xi,\eta)\hat{f}(\xi)\hat{g} = \sigma_{2,2,1}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{J^{s+2}f}(\xi)\hat{g}(\eta)$$
 (A.34)

where

$$\sigma_{2,2,1}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\lfloor \xi,\eta \rfloor}{1+|\xi|^2} (1+|\xi|^2)^{-\frac{s}{2}} (1+|\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right)$$
(A.35)

we have

$$\sigma_{2,2}(D)(f,g)(x) = \iint_{\frac{1}{4} \le \frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|} \le 4} e^{i\lfloor x,\xi+\eta \rfloor} \sigma_{2,2,1}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{J^{s+2}f}(\xi) \hat{g}(\eta) \, d\xi d\eta \qquad (A.36)$$

$$= \sigma_{2,2,1}(D)(J^{s+2}f,g)(x)$$

As (A.35) satisfies condition (A.2), it follows that

$$\|\sigma_{2,2}(D)(f,g)(x)\|_{L^p} = \|\sigma_{2,2,1}(D)(J^{s+2}f,g)(x)\|_{L^p} \le c\|J^{s+2}f\|_{L^p}\|g\|_{L^\infty}$$
(A.37)

The same method can be used to estimate $\|\sigma_{2,1}(D)(f,g)(x)$ if s is so large that $s \geq k = k(n,p)$ (see [34, Remark X3 for the definition of k]); then there are no negative powers of $1 + |\xi + \eta|^2$ to estimate.

But, this method fails if s is not so large. To avoid this difficulty, we shall use complex interpolation by extending $\sigma_{2,1}(\xi,\eta) \equiv \sigma_{2,1}^s(\xi,\eta)$ to complex values of s with $0 \leq \Re(s) \leq k$, condition (A.2) and maximum principle in complex function theory (see [34])

Finally, we obtain

$$\|\sigma_{2,1}(D)(f,g)(x)\|_{L^p} \le c\|J^{s+2}f\|_{L^p}\|g\|_{L^\infty}$$
 (A.38)

Step 4 Finally, collecting the results (A.20),(A.31),(A.37) and (A.38); we have proved the Lemma.

Lemma A.1.4. If s > 0 and $1 , then <math>L_s^p \cap L^{\infty}$ is a Banach Algebra. Moreover

$$||fg||_{s,p} \le c(||f||_{L^{\infty}}||g||_{L^{p}} + ||f||_{L^{p}}||g||_{L^{\infty}})$$
 (A.39)

Proof. See
$$[34]$$

65

Corollary A.1.1. Let $f \in H^s = L_s^2, s > \frac{n}{2}, k = 1, 2,$ Then

$$||f^{2k}||_s \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}}^{2k-1} ||f||_s \tag{A.40}$$

Proof. Since $f \in H^s, s > \frac{n}{2}$, Sobolev's Lemma implies that $f \in L^{\infty}$. Then $f \in L^2_s \cap L^{\infty}, s > \frac{n}{2} > 0$

(Case k=1) Applying the above Lemma we obtain

$$||f^2||_s \le 2c||f||_{L^{\infty}}||f|| \le 2c||f||_{L^{\infty}}||f||_s \Rightarrow ||f^2||_s \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}}||f||_s \quad (A.41)$$

(Case k=2) The above Lemma and the case k=1, implies

$$||f^{4}||_{s} = ||f^{2}.f^{2}||_{s} \le 2c||f^{2}||_{L^{\infty}}||f^{2}|| \le 2c||f||_{L^{\infty}}^{2}||f^{2}||_{s}$$

$$\le 4c^{2}||f||_{L^{\infty}}^{3}||f||_{s}$$
(A.42)

Then

$$||f^4||_s \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}}^3 ||f||_s$$
 (A.43)

(Case k=k) Suppose as induction hypothesis that

$$||f^{2k}||_s \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}}^{2k-1} ||f||_s$$
 (A.44)

(Case k+1) By above Lemma and induction hypothesis

$$||f^{2(k+1)}||_s = ||f^{2k}f^2||_s \lesssim (||f^{2k}||_{L^{\infty}}||f^2||_s + ||f^2||_{L^{\infty}}||f^{2k}||_s)$$
 (A.45)

$$\lesssim 2 \|f\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2k+1} \|f\|_s$$
 (A.46)

Then

$$||f^{2(k+1)}||_s \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}}^{2k+1}||f||_s \tag{A.47}$$

Finally, the result is proved.

Lemma A.1.5. Let $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1, t \geq 1, f, g \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then there exists C = C(s, n, t) > 0 such that

$$\left| \left\langle f D g, g \right\rangle_t \right| \le C \left[\| \nabla f \|_{s-1} \| g \|_t^2 + \| \nabla f \|_{t-1} \| g \|_t \| g \|_s \right]$$
 (A.48)

with $D = \partial^{\alpha}, |\alpha| = 1$

Proof. See [31]
$$\Box$$

Lemma A.1.6.

$$||fg||_{[s]} \le c(||f||_{L^{\infty}}||g||_{[s]} + ||f||_{[s]}||g||_{L^{\infty}}), s \ge 0$$
(A.49)

Proof. See [14],[31].
$$\Box$$

Lemma A.1.7. Let $f \in H^s, \psi \in L^{\infty}, \psi' \in H^{\infty}$. Then $f \psi \in H^s$ and satisfies:

$$||f\psi||_s \lesssim ||f||_s (||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_s)$$
 (A.50)

Proof. We define an equivalent norm to $\|\bullet\|_s^2$ by $|||\bullet|||_s^2 = \|\bullet\|^2 + \|\bullet\|_{[s]}^2$ Applying (A.49) to calculate $\|f\psi\|_{[s]}$ we have

$$||f\psi||_{[s]} = ||D^{s}(f\psi)|| \lesssim (||f||_{L^{\infty}} ||\psi||_{[s]} + ||f||_{[s]} ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}})$$

$$\lesssim ||f||_{s} (||\psi'||_{s} + ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}})$$
(A.51)

Then, substituting (A.51) in the equivalent norm to $f\psi$

$$|||f\psi|||_{s}^{2} = ||f\psi||^{2} + ||f\psi||_{[s]}^{2} \lesssim ||f||_{s}^{2} ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + ||f||_{s}^{2} (||\psi'||_{s} + ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}})^{2} \quad (A.52)$$

$$\lesssim ||f||_{s}^{2} (2||\psi||_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + 2||\psi'||_{s} ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}} + ||\psi'||_{s}^{2})$$

$$\lesssim ||f||_{s}^{2} (||\psi'||_{s} + ||\psi||_{L^{\infty}})^{2}$$

Finally, using the relation between equivalents norms, the desired result is obtained. $\hfill\Box$

Corollary A.1.2. Let $\psi \in L^{\infty}$ with $\psi' \in H^{\infty}$. Then $\psi \psi' \in H^s$ and satisfies:

$$\|\psi\psi'\|_{s} \lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2}$$
 (A.53)

Proof. This result is a direct consequence of the previous Lemma.

Let $\psi' \in H^{\infty} \subset H^s$

Using the estimate (A.50), we get $\|\psi\psi'\|_s$

$$\|\psi\psi'\|_{s} \lesssim \|\psi'\|_{s}(\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s}) \lesssim (\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\psi'\|_{s})^{2}$$
(A.54)

Bibliography

- [1] R. A. Adams Sobolev Spaces. New York, San Francisco, London, AP, (1975)
- [2] E. A. Alarcon and R. J. Iório Jr. On the Cauchy Problem associated to the Brinkman Flow: The One Dimensional Theory. Mathematica Contemporanea, Sociedade Brasileira de Matemática. Vol.27, 1-17, (2004).
- [3] M. S. Berger *Nonlinearity and Functional Analysis*. Lectures on Nonlinear Problems in Mathematical Analysis. Academic Press, (1977).
- [4] G. R. Blanco O Problema de Cauchy associado à equação de Camassa-Holm. Tese de Doutorado, IMPA, (1999).
- [5] J. L. Bona, R. Smith The initial value problem for the Korteweg-de-Vries equation. Philos Trans. Yoy. Soc. London, ser. A 278, 555-604, (1975)
- [6] J. L. Bona, R. Rajopadhye, M.E. Shonbek *Propagation of Bores I: Two dimensional Theory*. Diff. Int. Eq. 7,(3-4), 669-734, (1994).
- [7] J. L. Bona, H. Biagioni, R. J. Iorio Jr., M. Scialom On the Cauchy Problem for the Korteweg-de-Vries-Kuramoto-Sivashinski equation. Adv, Diff. Eq. 1, 1-20, (1996).
- [8] E. A. Coddington, N. Levinson Theory of Ordinary Differential Equations. McGraw-Hill Book Company, (1995).
- [9] R. R. Coifman, Y. Meyer Au deládes opérateurs pseudodifférentieles. Astérisque 57 Société Mathématique de France, (1978).
- [10] K. Deimling Nonlinear Functional Analysis. Springer-Verlag, (1980).

[11] D. E. Edmunds, W. D. Evans - Spectral Theory and Differential Operators. Claredon Press, Oxford, (1987).

- [12] G. B. Folland *Introduction to Partial Differential Equations*, Princeton University Press, (1976).
- [13] William G. Gray, S. Majid Hassanizadeh Paradoxes and Realities in Unsaturated Flow Theory. Water Resources Research, Vol. 27, No. 8, 1847-1854, (1991).
- [14] C. S. Herz Lipschitz Spaces and Bernstein's theorem on absolutely convergent Fourier Transforms. J. Math. Mech.18, 283-323, (1968).
- [15] E. Hille Methods in Classical and Functional Analysis. Addison-Wesley Publ. Co., (1972).
- [16] R. J. Iório Jr. On the Cauchy Problem for the Benjamin-Ono Equation. Comm. PDE, 11, (1986), 1031-1081.
- [17] R. J. Iório Jr. KdV, BO and friends in weighted Sobolev Spaces. Functional Analytic Methods for PDE. Lect. Notes in Math, vol 1450, ed, T. Ikebe, H. Fujita, S.T. Kuroda. Springer-Verlag, (1990).
- [18] R. J. Iório. and W. V. Leite Nunez *Introducao as equacoes de evolucao nao lineares*, 18 Coloquio Brasileiro de Matematica, IMPA, (1991).
- [19] R. J. Iório Jr, Felipe Linares, Marcia A. G. Scialom *Living under the Sobolev Barrier* Memorias III Escuela de Verano de Geometria Diferencial, Ecuaciones Diferenciales Parciales y Análisis Numérico. Universidad de los Andes, 61-73, (1995).
- [20] R. J. Iório Jr. On Kato's Theory of Quasilinear Equations. Segunda Jornada de EDP e Análise Numérica, Publicação do IMUFRJ, 153-178, (1996).
- [21] R. J. Iório Jr, Felipe Linares, Marcia A. G. Scialom *KDV and BO equations with Bore-Like data*. Differential and Integral Equations, Vol.11, No.6, 895-915 (1998).
- [22] R. J. Iório Jr., V. Iório Fourier Analysis and Partial Differential Equations. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, (2001).

[23] R. J. Iório Jr., V. Iório - Equações Diferenciais Parciais: Uma Introdução, 2.ed. Projeto Euclides, IMPA/CNPQ, (2010).

- [24] T. Kato Linear evolution equations of "hyperbolic" type, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. of Tokio, vol.17, (1970), 241-258.
- [25] T. Kato Linear evolution equations of "hyperbolic" type II, J. of the Math. of Japan, vol.25, No.4, (1973), 648-666.
- [26] T. Kato Quasilinear equations of evolution, with applications to partial differential equations, Lect. Note in Math., 448, (1975), 25-70.
- [27] T. Kato Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Second edition, Springer-Verlag, (1976).
- [28] T. Kato Linear and quasi-linear equations of hyperbolic type, C.I.M.E. II Ciclo, Hyperbolicity, (1976), 125-191.
- [29] T. Kato On the Korteweg-De Vries Equation. Manuscripta Mathematica, 28, 89-99, (1979).
- [30] T. Kato Quasilinear equations of evolution in non-reflexive Banach Spaces. Nonlinear PDE in Applied Sciences, US-Japan Seminar, Tokyo, Lect. Notes in Num. Appl. Anal., 5, (1982), 61-76.
- [31] T. Kato On the Cauchy problem for the (generalized) Korteweg-de-Vries equation. Studies in Appl. Math, Adv. in Math. Suppl. Studies, AP, 8, (1983), 92-128.
- [32] T. Kato Abstract differential equations and mixed problems. Lezioni Fermiani, Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei, Scuola Normale Superiori, (1985)
- [33] T. Kato Nonlinear equations of evolution in Banach Spaces, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, Volume 45, Part 2, A.M.S., (1986), 9-23.
- [34] T. Kato, G. Ponce Commutator estimates and Euler and Navier Stokes equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 41, (1988), 891-907.

[35] T. Kato - Abstract Evolution Equations, Linear and Quasilinear, Revisited. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1540. Springer-Verlag, 103-127, (1992).

- [36] T. Kato Comunicação pessoal a R.J. Iorio.
- [37] K. Kobayasi, N. Sanekata A method of iteration for quasilinear evolution equations in nonreflexive Banach spaces. Hiroshima Math, Journal, 19, 521-540, (1989).
- [38] Joel Koplik, Herbert Levine, A. Zee Viscosity renormalization in the Brinkman equation. Phys. Fluids, 26(10), 2864-2870, (1983).
- [39] P. D. Lax A Hamiltonian approach to KdV and others equations, in Nonlinear Evolution Equations. M. G. Crandall, ed, Academic Press, 207-224, (1985).
- [40] H. Liu, P. R. Patil On Darcy-Brinkman Equation: Viscous Flow Between Two Parallel Plates Packed with Regular Square Arrays of Cylinders. Entropy, 9, 118-131, (2007).
- [41] A. Pazy Semigroups of linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations, Springer Verlag, (1983).
- [42] Yu Qin, P. N. Kalon Steady convection in a porous medium based upon the Brinkman model. IMA Journal of Applied Mathemathics, 48, 85-95, (1992).
- [43] S. Reed, B. Simon Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Vol. I, II, III, IV, Academic Press, (1972, 1975, 1979, 1978).
- [44] F. Riez, B. S. Nagy Functional Analysis. Frederick Ungar Publishing Co. New York, (1965).
- [45] N. Sanekata Abstract quasilinear equations of evolution in nonreflexive Banach Spaces. Hiroshima Math. Journal, 19, 109-139, (1989).
- [46] G. F. Simmons Differential Equations with Applications and Historical Notes. McGraw-Hill Book Company, (1972).
- [47] Joel Smoller Shock Waves and Reaction-Diffusion Equations. Springer-Verlag, New York, (1967).

[48] S. L. Sobolev - Partial Differential Equations of Mathematical Physics. Translated from the third russian edition. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc., (1964).

- [49] K. Yosida Functional Analysis. Springer-Verlag, (1966).
- [50] Zhang, Dongxiao The Lattice Boltzmann Brinkman Flow Model: Unifying Darcy and Navier-Stokes equations. Hydrology, Geochemistry, and Geology Group.